LGBTQ Perceptions of High School Bullying

David C. Fernkopf B.A., Washburn University, 2007 M.S., Baker University, 2011

Submitted to the Graduate Department and Faculty of the School of Education of Baker University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership

Susan K. Rogers, Ph.D.
Major Advisor
Harold B. Frye, Ed.D.
Steve Pegram, Ed.D.

Date Defended: May 2, 2017

Copyright 2017 by David C. Fernkopf

Abstract

This qualitative study was conducted to examine LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions related to their experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. Specifically, the purpose of this study was to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of experiences with being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the curriculum and how it was inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and the experiences with LGBTQ students threatening or committing suicide.

The researcher determined that all but one of the participants were either bullied or witnessed bullying due to being LGBTQ. Although eight of the participants reported that teachers and staff were supportive of stopping the bullying of LGBTQ students one student did perceive that the teachers were bullying him. Fifteen of the 17 participants were aware of the school policies that addressed bullying and harassment, but none of the policies were specifically designed to protect the LGBTQ students. None of the participants were aware of any defined consequences for the bullying of LGBTQ students, but there were consequences for bullying of the students. Three participants recalled discussing or learning anything about LGBTQ people in high school, and the discussions were in literature class, not about LGBTQ history. Thirteen of the participants were aware of LGBTQ students harming themselves or trying to commit suicide; the harm included both cutting and suicide.

The implications for action that could improve the lives of LGBTQ students included: educators need training to work appropriately with LGBTQ students, school

districts need to examine their current bullying policies to determine if they protect LGBTQ students, schools need to include LGBTQ history in the curriculum, and students need to feel safe and supported at their schools. Recommendations for future research included: determining whether students from different areas outside of northeast Kansas had similar experiences, determining the differences in high school staffs' perceptions regarding LGBTQ students before and after training related to LGBTQ students, determining the differences between how school districts handle the punishment of the bullying of LGBTQ students, determining the differences between "straight" and LGBTQ students perceptions of bullying, and determining whether a curriculum that includes LGBTQ history might help students feel more included in school and help deter bullying problems.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my three children, Harley Ann Fernkopf,

Jonathan Paul Fernkopf, and Antonia David Fernkopf. Love, not DNA defines a family,
and I am so proud to call you mine. Because of you three, I strive to be the best person
and dad that I can be for your futures. The day you became Fernkopfs is the best gift I
could ever receive.

Acknowledgements

There are so many people whom I will forever be grateful for supporting me during my doctoral program. First, I would like to thank my husband Paul, who sacrificed so much time, helping with the kids and other tasks so I could always get my work done. Second, I would like to thank my parents, who have always encouraged me never to give up and go for my dreams. Their support has helped me see this through. Third, would be my good friend Reneé, the numerous Wednesday nights crashing on your couch after class, and the numerous assignments you edited for me. How does one say thank you enough? Fourth, I would like to thank my mentor, superintendent, and committee member Dr. Steve Pegram, it is with your help I have accomplished what I have in my career. Fifth, I would like to thank both of my advisors, Dr. Harold Frye and Dr. Susan Rogers; without both of your encouragement and support, I do not know if I would have been able to write and complete something about which I am so passionate. Also, Dr. Rogers, thank you for the extra time and reassurance to make sure that my dissertation was up to the standard. Your time and effort will not be forgotten. Finally, I must thank my research analyst, Dr. Peg Waterman, for your time and all your feedback in my numerous drafts. Your willingness to help was much appreciated.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	ix
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Background	1
Statement of the Problem	4
Purpose of the Study	6
Significance of the Study	6
Delimitations	7
Assumptions	8
Research Questions	8
Definition of Terms	9
Organization of the Study	10
Chapter Two: Review of the Literature	12
Current Movements for LGBTQ People	12
It Gets Better Project	12
Gay-Straight Alliances	13
Day of Silence	16
Bullying Addressed in Schools	16
LGBTQ Students and the Struggles with Being Bullied	20

How Bullying is Addressed in Schools	25
Policies Being Enacted in Schools	27
LGBTQ in the Curriculum	31
LGBTQ Student Suicides	33
Summary	36
Chapter Three: Methods	37
Research Design	37
Selection of Participants	38
Measurement	39
Data Collection Procedures	40
Analysis and Synthesis of Data	42
Researcher's Role	43
Limitations	43
Summary	44
Chapter Four: Results	45
Experiences with Bullying	45
District Staff Responses to Bullying	47
District Policies Related to Bullying	49
District Policies Related to Protection	51
Inclusive Curriculum	53
Suicide	54
Summary	57
Chapter Five: Interpretation and Recommendations	58

Study Summary	58
Overview of the Problem	58
Purpose Statement and Research Questions	59
Review of the Methodology	59
Major Findings	60
Findings Related to the Literature	62
Conclusions	65
Implications for Action	65
Recommendations for Future Research	66
Concluding Remarks	68
References	70
Appendices	84
Appendix A. Handout	85
Appendix B. IRB	87
Appendix C. IRB Approval Letter	93
Appendix D. Participant Consent Form	95

List of Tables

Table 1. Counties, Population, and Percentage of People under the Age of 18	3
Table 2. Average Number of LGBTQ Youth per County	4

Chapter One

Introduction

Student bullying can be found in almost every school in America (DeVoe & Murphy, 2011). Students have been daily targets of bullies because of their perceived sexuality (Swearer, Turner, Givens, & Pollack, 2008). In many cases, the bullying of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Questioning (LGBTQ) students has happened at school. According to the Gay, Lesbian, and Straight Education Network (GLSEN), which surveyed students in 2014, 74% of LGBTQ students have been verbally harassed in school due to their sexual orientation and 55% because of their gender expression. Due to the feelings of being unsafe or uncomfortable, 30% percent of these students missed at least one day of school within the past month (GLSEN, 2014). Bullying too often results in dire consequences. Sometimes the bullying of LGBTQ students can lead them to commit suicide. The results of a study conducted by Duong and Bradshaw (2014) showed that there is a strong association between bullying and suicidal behavior among LGBTQ youth.

Background

LGBTQ people live throughout the United States. According to the 2013

National Health Interview Survey, "1.6% of adults identified as gay or lesbian and 0.7% percent identified as bisexual" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014, p. 13).

Reported by the Gallup poll, as of May 2015, 3.8% of the adult populations of the United States were members of the LGBTQ community (Newport, 2015). As stated on the Gallup website, the Gallup (2016) daily tracking is composed of two parallel surveys that sample a large number of people. Over 3,500 people are surveyed after a week and

15,000 after a month, and over 17,500 in a year. This larger survey size allows for extensive demographic breaks and cross-tabulations (Gallup, 2016). Results from the Gallup poll have shown that there are LGBTQ residents across the United States, including northeast Kansas.

For the purpose of this study, the following counties were defined as northeast Kansas: Marshall, Nemaha, Brown, Doniphan, Pottawatomie, Jackson, Atchison, Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Jefferson, Wabaunsee, Shawnee, Douglas, Johnson, and Osage. Due to the population differences in these counties, the local school districts were different sizes and included rural areas, suburban areas, and urban areas. For example, in Jackson County, there were small rural districts, such as North Jackson. According to the Kansas Report Card, North Jackson's enrollment was comprised of 377 students during 2015-2016 (Kansas State Department of Education [KSDE], 2015). Then, there were large urban districts like Blue Valley in Johnson County, which enrolled 22,546 students during 2015-2016 (KSDE, 2015).

Included in Table 1 are the Northeast Kansas counties ranked in order from largest to smallest population along with the percentages of individuals under the age of 18. These percentages provide an estimate of students who were attending schools in northeast Kansas.

Table 1

Counties, Population, and Percentage of People under the Age of 18

County	Population	Percentage of people under the age of 18
Johnson	580,159	25.3
Wyandotte	163,369	28.3
Douglas	118,053	19.0
Leavenworth	79,315	24.3
Shawnee	78,725	24.3
Pottawatomie	23,298	29.3
Jefferson	18,930	23.5
Atchison	16,398	23.4
Osage	15,847	23.8
Jackson	13,338	25.8
Nemaha	10,227	25.5
Marshall	9,936	23.1
Brown	9,776	25.4
Doniphan	7,767	21.8
Wabaunsee	6,951	25.0

Note. Adapted from QuickFacts by the U.S Census Bureau, 2015. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/AGE275210/20091

The third column of Table 2 shows the estimated average number of LGBTQ youth per county when taking the population of individuals under the age of 18 and multiplying it by the national average of LGBTQ residents, which according to the Gallup (2015) poll was 3.8%. For example, Marshall County had an estimated 2,295

people under the age of 18, 2295.22 multiplied by 3.8% equals 87.22, which is an estimated 87 youth who identify as part of the LGBTQ community.

Table 2

Average Number of LGBTQ Youth per County

County	People under the age of 18 ^a	Estimated number of LGBTQ youth	
Johnson	146,780	5,578	
Wyandotte	46,233	1,757	
Shawnee	43,430	1,650	
Douglas	22,430	852	
Leavenworth	19,274	732	
Pottawatomie	6,826	259	
Jefferson	4,449	169	
Atchison	3,837	146	
Osage	3,772	143	
Jackson	3,441	131	
Nemaha	2,608	99	
Brown	2,483	94	
Marshall	2,295	87	
Wabaunsee	1,738	66	
Doniphan	1,693	64	

Note. Adapted from QuickFacts by the U.S Census Bureau, 2015. Retrieved from

http://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/PST045215/20091.

Statement of the Problem

The incidences of LGBTQ teen suicides and suicide attempts have come to the public's notice through increased media attention. According to family and friends of the

LGBTQ suicide victims, bullying was cited as the main problem with which most of the victims were dealing (Heck, Flentje, & Cochran, 2011). With LGBTQ students being the target of bullies (Kearns, Mitton-Kukner, & Tompkins, 2014) and with the increasing risk of LGBTQ student suicides (Kitts, 2005), bullying prevention policies might need to be reviewed by school districts.

The GLSEN developed the National School Climate Survey (NSCS) to identify national data on the experiences of LGBT youth (GLSEN, 2014). The data from the NSCS shows that there have been policies in school districts intended to prevent bullying, but LGBTQ students have not received as much protection as needed (GLSEN, 2014). According to the StopBullying.gov website (2014), "No federal laws exist that directly address bullying, but sometimes bullying overlaps with discrimination harassment that is covered under federal laws" (para. 1). In 2007, the Kansas legislature passed Statute 72-8256, under the Kansas Anti-Bullying, Cyberbullying & Character Development, which defined bullying, required boards of education to adopt a policy prohibiting bully, and required districts to develop a plan to address bullying (KSDE, 2012).

Some school districts have policies that discriminate against LGBTQ students. For example, some school districts do not let students bring same-sex dates to a prom or school dances (Darden, 2014). School districts have had legal action brought against them in Missouri, Indiana, and Mississippi for trying to prevent same sex couples attending their high school prom (Darden, 2014). In 2016, the U.S. Justice Department published a Federal guidance over transgender students and restrooms in response to states barring transgender students from using restrooms consistent with their gender identity (Walsh, 2016). Over twelve states filed lawsuits against the federal guidelines,

not wanting the transgender students to have a choice on which restroom to use. The general guidelines did not add requirements to the law but provided information and examples of how the Departments of Justice and Education evaluated whether school districts were complying with their legal obligations (Walsh, 2016).

It is not known if the school districts are doing enough to protect the LGBTQ students. School districts need to know what to do for LGBTQ students, so they feel safe and included. School districts need to be aware of the changing laws so that they can do more to protect LGBTQ students from bullying.

Purpose of the Study

Lunenburg and Irby (2008) suggested that the purpose of a study is to help solve the stated problem. The purpose of this study was to determine the perceptions of former LGBTQ high school students related to their experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. Specifically, the purpose was to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of and experiences with being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the curriculum was inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and LGBTQ students threatening to commit suicide or committing suicide.

Significance of the Study

This study was pursued to examine whether current LGBTQ students are protected by the bullying policies in local districts. Suicide has been found to be the third leading cause of death of youth in the U.S. (Baams, Grossman, & Russell, 2015).

LGBTQ students are two and a half times more likely to commit suicide, especially when

bullied at school (Baams et al. 2015). From the results of this study, it may be concluded that LGBTQ students have felt protected from bullying in school. However, it may be determined that local districts need to change their anti-bullying policies to be more inclusive of LGBTQ students, which may lead to fewer teens at-risk for suicide. By understanding the perspectives of former high school students who are members of the LGBTQ community, the effectiveness of policies could be evaluated in protecting LGBTQ students. A study of policies could also contribute to understanding what currently is working and what has not worked in the past. The findings from this study could be important for educators to understand how LGBTQ students felt while attending high school. From the results of the study, it might be concluded that educators need to start using curriculum that is inclusive of the LGBTQ community. By understanding the struggles of LGBTQ students, educators can change the way they are teaching to include help the LGBTQ students feel included. Once the LGBTQ students feel included, they might become better able to adjust to school and be more successful.

Delimitations

Lunenburg and Irby (2008) defined delimitations as "self-imposed boundaries set by the researcher on the purpose and scope of the study" (p. 134). The following delimitations were in place for this study.

- The study participants were delimited to former students aged 18-22 who attended high school in northeast Kansas.
- 2. The study was delimited to former students' perceptions and experiences with curriculum inclusive of LGBTQ and their perceptions of policies designed to

prevent bullying, the effectiveness of bullying policies, and the way district staff responded to bullying.

Assumptions

According to Lunenburg and Irby (2008), "Assumptions are postulates, premises, and propositions that are accepted as operational for purposes of the research" (p. 135). This study was based on the following assumptions.

- 1. The participants understood the interview questions being asked.
- 2. The responses from the interviewed former students were truthful.
- 3. The memories of the interviewed former students were accurate.
- 4. The interviewer was unbiased and did not influence the participants.

Research Questions

Following the advice of Lunenburg and Irby (2008), research questions were used to organize the study. The research questions that guided this study were:

- **RQ1.** What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with bullying of LGBTQ students while attending high school?
- **RQ2.** What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with district staff responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students?
- **RQ3.** What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with district policies related to the bullying of LGBTQ students?
- **RQ4.** What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with district policies related to the protection of LGBTQ students who are bullied?

RQ5. What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with a curriculum that was inclusive of LGBTQ students?

RQ6. What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with LGBTQ students threatening or committing suicide?

Definition of Terms

Per Lunenburg & Irby 2008, the terms central to the study should be defined, and the definitions should come from a "professional reference source" (p. 119). The terms are words that may not be commonly known. The following terms were used throughout this study.

Bisexual. "The word bisexual is used to describe a person who experiences sexual attraction toward both men and women" (Olive, 2015, p. 143).

Bullying. "Bullying is defined as an aggressive behavior by a more powerful individual or group that targets a less powerful person, is deliberately harmful, and is repeated over time" (Boulton, 2014, p. 25).

Gay. "Gay is the word used to describe a man who is sexually attracted to other men" (Olive, 2015, p. 143).

Gender identity. "Gender identity is the knowledge of oneself as being male or female" (Frankowski et al., 2004, p. 1827).

Gender role. "Gender role is the outward expression of maleness" (Frankowski et al., 2004, p. 1827).

Heteronormativity. "Heteronormativity refers to everything being referred to as normal when heterosexual, and everything that is not heterosexual is referred to as the other" (Vega, Crawford, & Van Pelt, 2012, p. 254).

Homophobia. "Homophobia is the irrational fear, hatred, and intolerance of being in close quarters with homosexual men and women" (Nagoshi et al., 2008, p. 521).

Homosexual. "Homosexual are Individuals who are attracted to persons of the same sex (Frankowski et al., 2004, p. 1827).

Lesbian. "Lesbian is a word used to describe a woman is sexually attracted to other women" (Olive, 2015, p. 143).

LGBTQ, LGBTQIA. These acronyms refer to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer or Questioning, Intersexed and Asexual. Many times, all of the different identities within "LGBT" are often lumped together (Michigan, 2016).

Questioning/queer. "Questioning/queer is someone who eschews any type of gender or sexuality label" (Olive, 2015, p. 142).

Sexual harassment. "Sexual harassment is unwelcome conduct sexual in nature" (Hanley, 2015, p. 1).

Sexual orientation. "Sexual orientation refers to an individual's pattern of physical and emotional arousal toward other persons" (Frankowski et al., 2004, p. 1872).

Transgender. "Transgenders are people living in a gender identity different from traditional heteronormative definitions; they are individuals who violate norms of gender roles and gender identity and/or go across the boundaries of one gender to another gender" (Nagoshi et al., 2008, p. 522).

Organization of the Study

This study is divided into five chapters. Chapter one included an introduction, the background of the study, the statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, the significance of the study, the delimitations, the assumptions, the research questions, the

definitions of terms, and the organization of the study. Chapter two consists of a review of the literature, which includes current movements for LGBTQ people, bullying addressed in schools, LGBTQ students and the struggles of being bullied, how bullying is addressed in schools, policies being enacted in schools, LGBTQ in the curriculum, and LGBTQ student suicides. Provided in chapter three are a description of the research design, the selection of participants, the measurement, data collection procedures, methods of analysis, synthesis of data, researcher role, and the limitations of the study. Included in chapter four are the findings of the study. Chapter five completes the study with a study summary, the findings related to the literature, and the conclusions.

Chapter Two

Review of the Literature

The purpose of this study was to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of and experiences with being bullied in high school, and district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students. The purpose was also to see how district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the curriculum and how it was inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and the experiences with LGBTQ students threatening or committing suicide. The review of literature includes current movements for LGBTQ people, bullying addressed in schools, LGBTQ students and the struggles of being bullied, how bullying is addressed in schools, policies being enacted in schools, LGBTQ in the curriculum, and LGBTQ student suicides.

Current Movements for LGBTQ People

Since 2012, many movements have helped the LGBTQ community with equality and justice. Some of these movements are directed towards LGBTQ youth, while other movements are for everyone that is a part of the LGBTQ communities. The organized movements encompass a wide range of activities including social media, lobbying, and student organizations.

It Gets Better Project. Some movements have taken place in the past few years to help LGBTQ students know that things do get better. Savage started a project that is referred to as It Gets Better (Savage & Miller, 2011). Savage was concerned with LGBTQ youth and their suicides. The idea was very simple; LGBTQ adults who have made it the through the years of being a teenager and being gay recorded short videos for

current LGBTQ youth with a message that being gay gets better (Savage & Miller, 2011). The project was a success, with over 200 videos the first week and over 30,000 as of October 2013 (Savage & Miller, 2011). The whole idea helped challenge the logic that being a member of an LGBTQ group meant a life of punishment and misery (Savage & Miller, 2011). The It Gets Better Project helps members of the LGBTQ youth community know that they are not alone (Savage & Miller, 2011).

Hurley (2014) conducted a qualitative study to develop a deeper understanding of the experiences and motivations of the It Gets Better project. Hurley had over 400 individuals participate in her survey and interviewed 35 participants. The findings revealed that most people made the video as a reflection and a way to take action. The results of Hurley's research showed that the construction of the It Gets Better Project allowed the participants to engage in a process that could reach out and help both youth and adults.

Gay-Straight Alliances. One way that some school districts in the United States have helped LGBTQIA students feel accepted is the Gay-Straight Alliance (GSA). GSAs are organizations for students designed to provide a safe environment for LGBTQIA students and their straight allies (Lassiter & Sifford, 2015). Some of the GSA clubs sponsor social events, and others work to educate the school community about sexual orientation (Goodenow, Szalacha, & Westheimer, 2006). The GSA groups also work toward getting schools to adopt policies that are more LGBTQIA friendly. The results of research conducted by the California Safe Schools Coalition found that schools that have a GSA have decreased verbal and physical harassment incidents (Murphy, 2012). The GSAs also become a support for school staff, and many students have a feeling of

belonging when a GSA is in place at schools (Goodenow et al., 2006). GSAs are endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics, American Association of School Administrators, American Counseling Association, American Federation of Teachers, American School Counselor Association, American School Health Association, Interfaith Alliance Foundation, National Association of Secondary School Principals, National Association of School Nurses, National Association of Social Workers, National Education Association, National School Boards Association, and School Social Work Association of America (Murphy, 2012).

In 2011, Arne Duncan, Secretary of Education, sent a letter to school districts warning them that they could not ban the formation of GSAs. In the letter, Duncan reminded school districts that the Equal Access Act required the public schools to provide equal access to extracurricular clubs. Duncan (2011) went on to remind the school districts that the Equal Access Act requires public schools to treat all student-initiated groups equally, regardless of the subject matters discussed in the meetings. Duncan also wrote that he encouraged every school district to make sure that all educators, students, and community member are aware of these student rights (Duncan, 2011). Several school districts had been actively blocking or preventing GSAs from forming (Shah, 2011). In all the cases, school district eventually let the GSAs form, although the American Civil Liberties Union did have to sue on behalf of the students in many of the cases (Shah, 2011).

Bradley (2015) completed a qualitative study to examine the personal experiences of LGBTQ individuals regarding the perceived levels of safety while in school. The research questions from Bradley's (2015) study dealt with the impact of GSAs on the

safety of students while at school, whether GSAs contributed to a safe school environment, and if there were any personal benefits to attending a school with GSAs for LGBTQ students. Bradley (2015) found that more teacher involvement with GSAs helped the students feel safer and when the no bullying message was supported that bullying and verbal harassment decreased. She also found the GSAs promoted acceptance and helped provide a safe place to go to the school. Bradley (2015) also found that there is a need to incorporate GSA clubs and refine the anti-bullying policies to protect LGBTQ students. Based on the findings, Bradley (2015) recommended the need for more GSAs in schools, along with better professional development about the issue of LGBTQ students.

Lindquist (2016) examined whether various school supports, such as GSAs and safe zones, were helpful to students. She discovered that schools that had a GSA were less likely to have students absents due to safety concerns (Lindquist, 2016). Bagley (2016) agreed that GSAs work and there are fewer instances of bullying in highs schools with GSAs. Bagley (2016) interviewed GSA faculty advisors throughout the state of South Carolina. Results indicated that high schools with GSAs reported fewer instances of bullying and had school climates that were more accepting. Spencer (2016) conducted a quantitative study across the United States to determine if LGBTQ graduates of high schools with GSAs have better mental health than LGBTQ students who are attending high schools without GSAs. Spencer interviewed 183 graduates of high school, 80% of whom identified as LGBT. From his research, Spencer found a positive association between GSA presence and high self-esteem and life satisfaction. He also found that

those students who attended schools with GSAs had a significantly higher self-esteem and life satisfaction than the graduates without GSAs.

Day of Silence. Schools around the United States have participated in the Day of Silence to raise awareness of anti-LGBTQ-bullying. The Day of Silence is sponsored by GLSEN and was put in place to empower students to change anti-LGBTQ bias and harassment in schools (GLSEN, 2015). The first-ever Day of Silence was at the University of Virginia in 1996, and following its success, the organizers took their effort national the following year in both high school and colleges.

The GLSEN Day of Silence has reached students in all 50 states. The students participate in the day of by not speaking during the school day. The hope of the Day of Silence is to bring more attention to the silence that is faced by LGBT people daily as they face bullying, name-calling, and harassment (GLSEN, 2015).

Bullying Addressed in Schools

Bullying is defined as an aggressive behavior by a more powerful individual or group that targets a less powerful person, is deliberately harmful, and is repeated over time (Boulton, 2014). Bullying between peers has occurred for decades in schools (Roberge, 2012). According to the United States Justice Department, one of every four children will be bullied sometime during their adolescence (Bullying Statistics, 2016). In 2003, 23% of public schools reported that bullying occurred among students on a daily or weekly basis (Beaty & Alexeyev, 2008). Several types of bullying can happen to students in school including direct bullying, verbal bullying, sexual harassment, and cyberbullying (Beaty & Alexeyev, 2008). According to the National Center for Learning Disabilities, school personnel only notice or intervene in 1 of 25 incidents of bullying

(Whitson, 2015). The statistics on bullying show how bad bullying can be in the school setting.

One form of bullying that students can be subjected to is direct bullying. Direct bullying includes behaviors such as taunting, teasing, hitting, threatening, assault, stealing, and destruction of one's property (Beaty & Alexeyev, 2008). Levine and Tamburrino (2014) found that females reported more direct bullying at school while males reported more direct bullying at home. Lester, Cross, and Shaw (2012) found that if actions are taken early to stop or reduce the direct bullying in schools, the chances of bullying occurring later are significantly reduced.

The second form of bullying is verbal bullying, also referred to as indirect bullying. Victims of verbal bullying can experience taunting, teasing, and name-calling. The students that are on the receiving end of verbal bullying often experience it in unsupervised areas (Varjas et al., 2008).

The third form of bullying is sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature (Hanley, 2015). Sexual harassment can include unwelcome sexual advances and requests for sexual favors. Females and males can both be sexually harassed, but a majority of the time, women are on the receiving end of sexual harassment (Rahimi & Liston, 2011).

The fourth a newer type of bullying is cyberbullying, which is referred to as online bullying. Per Campbell (2011), cyberbullying is the use of technology to purposefully intimidate or harm another person. Cyberbullying has no boundaries, as technology is a part of all aspects of our lives. The results of research conducted by Griezel, Finger, Bodkin-Andrews, Craven, and Yeung (2012) have shown that an equal

number of males and females were cyberbullied. Not as many studies have been conducted on the effects of cyberbullying on LGBTQ students because of the recency of cyberbullying (Wimberly, 2015). One research study conducted across the United States by Cooper and Blumenfeld (2012) explored how often cyberbullying was happen and the impact it had on the lives of LGBT youth. Cooper and Blumenfeld developed a survey that was administered to 310 students who were under the age of 18 and who identified as LGBT or an ally. The result of the survey showed that over 60% of the LGBT and 8% of the allied participants reported being electronically harassed based on their sexual identity (Cooper & Blumenfeld, 2012).

In addition to the different forms of bullying, people who are not involved in bullying, but are a witness who does not react are called bystanders. Bystanders give bullies the illusion that they are not doing anything wrong, which then gives the bully more power over the victim (Brown, 2014). The result of Brown's research has shown that bystanders are less likely to stop bullying when there are a large number of bystanders watching. When people sit back and watch it is referred to as the bystander effect (Obermann, 2011). Sometimes in bullying situations, especially with children, bystanders interpret the inaction of other bystanders as a sign that the bullying situation is not that bad (Obermann, 2011). Another reason bullying is often not stopped by bystanders is the bullies are, at times, perceived as popular and powerful. The bystanders are afraid of being seen as not popular if they were to step in and stop the popular person from bullying (Obermann, 2011). Many bystanders do not feel that it is their business when someone else is being bullied; therefore, they avoid the whole situation (Obermann, 2011).

Ross (2015) conducted a qualitative study to determine whether the overall success of students is related to a positive school climate. Ross based his study on the theory that mitigating school violence would contribute to building peaceful school climates. Ross's (2015) study was conducted in Ontario at three high schools with student populations ranging from 500 to 1,500. The purpose of the study was to investigate patterns of activity in schools that caused violence and what activities helped build a peaceful school climate. Ross (2015) found that reducing competition and exclusion and building social relationship could reduce the risks of physical violence and bullying.

Chatman (2015) examined the effects of bullying of LGBTQ youth who attended a high school in Shelby County of Tennessee. The qualitative research was conducted to determine the perceptions of 53 LGBT youth (Chatman, 2015). The research questions dealt with homophobic bullying, how the bullying affected the LGBT youth, and what bullying was evident in Shelby County, Tennessee. Chatman found that the LGBT youth who were interviewed did experience homophobic bullying. Chatman discovered that 77% of participants stated they were bullied because they were gay or perceived to be gay. She also found that 91% of the gay participants interviewed stated that they were bullied because they were gay (Chatman, 2015). During her research, Chatman (2015) also investigated how acts of homophobic bullying affect the lives of those involved. Chatman (2015) found that 42% or the participants interviewed revealed that homophobic bullying had a negative impact on their lives. Additionally, Chatman also investigated what types of homophobic bullying was evident in the high school her participants attended. She found that over 77% of her participants endured some form of

bullying. This bullying included isolation, physical altercations, and cyberbullying (Chatman, 2015).

LGBTQ Students and the Struggles with Being Bullied

The results of the research have found that students who are thought to be a sexual minority are often targets of bullying (GLSEN, 2014). According to the National School Climate Survey, 80% of the LGBT students who took the survey had experienced some form of verbal harassment because of their orientation (GLSEN, 2014). Over two-thirds of the LGBTQ students who completed the survey felt unsafe because of their sexual orientation. In addition, over half of the LGBTQ students who participated heard homophobic comments from the school staff (Bratsis, 2015).

In 2012, the American Psychoanalytic Association (APSAA) published a position statement about the impact of bullying and harassment on gender non-conforming youth and LGBT youth and condemned bullying in schools. The APSAA reported that gender-nonconforming and LGBT youth hear anti-gay slurs on an average of 26 times a day. The APSAA also reported that 78% of gay or perceived gay out youth are teased or bullied in their schools and communities (APSAA, 2012). Additionally, the organization reported that victims of bullying suffer high rates of suicidality, depression, anxiety, lower self-esteem and increased rates of school absenteeism. The APSAA recommended implementing preventive measures to help LGBT youth. These measures include adding sexual orientation antidiscrimination policies, beginning comprehensive school-wide education programs, and providing support for LGBT youth in schools (APSAA, 2012).

When LGBTQ students are bullied, they are at a higher risk of psychological distress. Greene, Britton, and Fitts (2014) felt that distress can include higher rates of

substances abuse, higher-risk sexual behavior, and can include depression and suicide.

Greene et al. (2014) indicated that LGBTQ adults have a high rate of posttraumatic stress disorder that has been attributed to prolonged school bullying.

According to Kuhlmann's (2014) research, school districts do have legal responsibilities and liabilities related to providing protection for LGBT students.

Kuhlmann (2014), found that many administrators were not completely aware of what legal responsibilities they had in protecting LGBT students. Kuhlmann (2014) determined that administrators would benefit from having a resource guide that could be used for guidance, whenever needed. She recommended that leaders in education must understand the specific impact that bullying has on LGBT students and their education.

Despite campaigns across the nation to decrease bullying, three of every 10 districts do not have policies that protect students from harassment (DeNisco, 2015). To help students from being bullied, it is vital that LGBTQ students have supportive school personnel (Marshall, Yarber, Sherwood-Laughlin, Gray, & Estell, 2015). Much of the bullying of LGBTQ youth might stem from homophobia (Perez, Schanding, & Dao, 2013). Homophobia could include, "belief systems, general attitudes, behaviors, and stereotyping toward those individuals who are not heterosexual or who do not conform to gender norms" (Perez et al., 2013, p. 66). They went on to state that training to recognize bullying especially LGBTQ bullying was lacking for educators.

McFall (2015) completed a qualitative study on lesbians and their experiences during high school. She interviewed participants between the ages of 18 and 24 that had same sex attraction during high school. The purpose of McFall's (2015) research was to address the "gap between the quantitative data's exposition of academic risk for LGBT

students and actual accounts of the lived experience of being LGBT in a high school classroom setting." (p.6). In her study, McFall clarified the important role of teachers, as youth are finding their sexual identity. She tried to answer the research question, "What is the experience of being lesbian in a high school classroom?" (p. 37). The results of McFall's study depended upon if the students were "in" or "out." She found that it could be difficult to be a lesbian in high school. Students found it helpful to have teachers who could understand the journey of students coming out, but more importantly having people available to listen and encourage them to find the strength to open up about who they are (McFall, 2015). Additionally, the results of McFall's (2015) study showed the importance of a safe and inclusive environment to have students be successful in school.

Heteronormativity is another issue that LGBTQ students encounter daily. The term heteronormativity denotes everything being referred to as normal when heterosexual, and everything that is not heterosexual is referred to as the "other" (Vega et al., 2012). According to Khayatt (2006),

Schools both reinforce and, at the same time, reflect mainstream normative genders and sexualities. Schools teach intentionally (through the curriculum) and unintentionally, through values promoted by teachers, administration, boards and parents, a taken-for-granted normative sexuality and concomitant expectations of gender behavior. (p. 135)

Hearing about heteronormative references daily can be rather difficult for LGBTQ students as they do not learn about people like themselves (Vega et al., 2012).

Studies have also been conducted to explore the attitudes and knowledge of administrators towards LGBTQ-related issues. One such qualitative study by Barragan-

Rebolledo (2013) focused on elementary school principals in Southern California and their knowledge of LGBTQ related issues along with identifying what the principals deem necessary to have a safe learning environment for the LGBTQ students. Barragan-Rebolledo administered surveys and conducted individual interviews to gather data. The research questions for the study related to the Southern California elementary principals' attitudes towards bullying, discrimination, and harassment, along with what did the principals believe was a safe learning environment. Based on the findings of the study, Barragan-Rebolledo (2013) suggested that principals needed assistance with providing professional development for their staff in their efforts to create a safe learning environment along with integrating LGBTQ topics in the classroom. Barragan-Rebolledo (2013) thought a safe learning environment could be achieved through professional development for elementary principals on LGBTQ topics, education of parents on LGBTQ issues, and the inclusion of LGBTQ bullying and harassment in school plans and policies.

Although more attention has been given to bullying, not much attention has been given to anti-bullying policies. Little research on the effects of anti-bullying policies on LGBTQ students exists. Holliday (2016) completed a qualitative study that examined the role of anti-bullying policies by conducting interviews with high school teachers, administrators, and other staff members. This study took place in an urban school district in the United States. In the study, purposive sampling was used to identify teachers and administrators. Two principals, three vice principals, fifteen teachers, and one school psychologist were interviewed. The results of the study indicated that teachers were not knowledgeable of the content of their school policies and that they have had limited

exposure to those policies (Holliday, 2016). Both teachers and administrators had a limited knowledge on training specific to preventing bullying against LGBT youth.

Across the United States, LGBT students do not feel safe due to the bullying and harassment that is targeted toward them. Many schools throughout the nation are not specifically required to protect the LGBT students. According to Street (2016), who conducted qualitative research about adult members of a rural elementary school community perceptions of LGBT-based bullying, harassment, and violence, LGBT students were not feeling safe a school. Street completed his study at a Title I suburban elementary school in Tennessee where there was no legislative protection from bullying.

In the recent past, Tennessee legislators have even tried to exclude the LGBT population; one bill they tried to pass has been referred to as the "Don't Say Gay Bill." The proposed bill would have prohibited teachers from giving any instruction that was inconsistent with natural human reproduction. The proposed bill also stated that counselors, school nurses, and administrators must notify parents of any discussions they have with their child related to sexuality. The proposed bill would have limited LGBT students talking to anyone about their sexuality. The proposed bills like these in Tennessee drove Street to complete his study to gain a better understanding of what keeps LGBT students from feeling safe a school. Street (2016) addressed three research questions related to adult perceptions of the problems the LGBT students were experiencing, whether the zero-tolerance anti-bullying policy was working, and the possibility of changing the school policy to address the prevention of bullying, harassment, and violence against LGBT students. Street determined that a majority of the participants believed that LGBT students should be protected from bullying and that

the school currently was not doing an adequate job of protecting these students. He also found that most participants felt that policies should change to protect all students, but that this could be difficult due to the religious beliefs of the community. Street (2016) proposed changing the policy in the school district to address LGBT-specific bullying.

How Bullying is Addressed in Schools

The first formal studies on bullying in schools are traced back to the 1970s. Before the 1970s, bullying was not considered a large enough problem on which to conduct research. In the 1980s, three Norwegian students committed suicide as a direct result of being severely bullied by their peers (Roberge, 2012). After these students' deaths, a mass media campaign was carried out, and the public called for action to reduce school bullying (Roberge, 2012).

Once schools began to realize that bullying posed a problem, zero tolerance policies were put into place (Holloway, 2001). The hope was that zero tolerance policies would help eliminate bullying that had been taking place in schools. The idea was that zero tolerance policies would remove students engaging in behavior that threatened or disrupted learning, therefore, deter other students from misbehaving. However, research indicated that zero tolerance policies often targeted the wrong behaviors, and the wrong students ended up being punished (Holloway, 2001). "Zero tolerance critics believe that it is so overly broad that consistent application, regardless of the student's intent or circumstances of the offense, creates an unfair disciplinary model for a student" (Jones, 2013, p. 740). Other than zero tolerance policies, few policies were in place to educate expelled and suspended students. These students ended up having a negative effect on the schools' academic performance (Jones, 2013).

Following the initiation of zero tolerance policies, administrators in many districts tried a different approach. They tried to stop the problems before they became an issue with early interventions policies. According to Skiba and Peterson (2000), "The early response model of disciple emphasizes a comprehensive program to build positive prosocial behavior, rather than merely punishing inappropriate behavior" (p. 342). The early intervention approach to dealing with bullying in schools included creating a culture of respect and understanding in schools. Lessons were also developed for students addressing character education and social skills (Roberge, 2012). Early interventions have different strategies and include partnerships between the schools, families, and the community. Strategies include conflict resolution with social instruction, classroom strategies for disruptive behavior, parent involvement, early warning signs and screenings, school and district-wide data systems, crisis and security planning, schoolwide discipline and behavioral planning, and functional assessment of individual behavior plans (Skiba & Peterson, 2000). These strategies can be utilized when trying to prevent bullying happening in the schools.

In some schools, policies are in place that state bullying is wrong, but the policies have been found to have little to no effect (DeNisco, 2015). To help prevent the bullying of LGBTQ youth, educators need to be aware of their biases and the way their biases may affect how they talk to students (Bratsis, 2015). Students must be able to feel safe in their learning environments to be successful. According to the Title IX Resource Guide published by the U.S. Department of Education, Office of Civil Rights (2015),

The fact that an incident of sex-based harassment may be accompanied by antigay comments or be partly based on a student's actual or perceived sexual orientation does not relieve a recipient of its obligation under Title IX to investigate and remedy such an incident. (p. 6)

Students have the right to feel protected while at school. Legal actions have been brought against schools and districts that did not protect students from bullying. One example in which students were not afforded protection took place in Minnesota's largest school district. The district had a controversial policy that required, "teachers to remain neutral on issues of sexual identity that arose during class" (Shah, 2012, p. 11). This policy, along with the lack of training for teachers, led six former and current students to sue the district in federal court. The suit was settled with a consent decree in which the agreement stated, "that teachers can affirm the dignity and self-worth of students, and any protected characteristics of students, such as their sexual orientation, without violating district policy" (Shah, 2012, p. 11).

Policies Being Enacted in Schools

Schools should implement and enforce "comprehensive policies that include sexual orientation, gender identity and gender expression" (Diaz, Kosciw, & Greytak, 2010, p. 14). The presence of policies might help all students feel included (Diaz et al., 2010). These policies might help send the message to the LGBTQ youth that their safety is taken seriously by administrators. Having policies that welcome LGBTQ youth may also help them feel welcome and make sure there are no policies that discriminate such as gendered dress codes and prohibition of same-sex dates to school dances (Diaz et al., 2010).

Other ways do exist in districts across the United States to make LGBTQ students feel more accepted. In New York City, Harvey Milk High School was established for all

students, gay or straight. The school is a haven for LGBTQ youth (Brittenham, 2004). New York City students can transfer to this school if they are struggling or have dropped out of their regular mainstream schools. The Harvey Milk School staff works to assure that students are both educationally and emotionally healthy.

Robertson (2014) conducted a study in Florida in which she interviewed high school students who identified themselves as members of the LGBTQ community. The purpose of her study was to understand the LGBTQ high school students and their school experiences. Robertson (2014) found that students experienced discrimination from school staff and students. The participants in Robertson (2014) study provided suggestions and recommendation that included: educators should provide all students with LBGTQ inclusive curriculum, protocols should be developed to be used as a response to discrimination, LGBTQ events and activities should be represented in the school, and schools should create an ally program. Robertson (2014) also suggested that LGBTQ materials become a classroom resource, along with creating a mentor program and incorporating LGBT organizations in the school.

Toleson (2014) conducted a study to identify the level of life satisfaction in their high school, the level of support they had as LGBTQ students, and other school-based protective factors for the LGBTQ students. Toleson examined LGBTQ college students' high school experiences and their perceptions of their high school climate. She interviewed 36 LGBTQ college students. Toleson (2014) found that the satisfaction factors of the LGBTQ participants relied heavily on the support from family, friends, school, and their living environments. Toleson (2014) concluded that high schools

should focus on providing youth a safe, supportive learning environment for students to achieve more and be more satisfied with the school.

In 2015, changes had started to happen across the country, but the changes have been slow. Some schools have policies to protect LGBTQ youth. In Nebraska, the school activities association drafted a gender policy that allowed a district to have policies that support letting transgender student athletes participate in sports (Toporek, 2015). The policy allows all transgendered youth to participate in any sports under their identified gender after the student provides documentation that they are transgender (Toporek, 2015).

Boulder Valley School District located in Colorado has taken numerous steps to be accepting and understanding of transgendered youth. The school district has improved its policies and made changes to curriculum and their computer system (Brown, 2015). The Boulder Valley School District revamped its policies for bathrooms so that transgenders students can use the bathroom according to how they identify. The school district has changed its policies for their curriculum to include training on gender diversity for its staff and teaching about LGBT historical figures in class. The school district also changed their computer software so that it allowed a third option for gender nonconforming students (Brown, 2015). These changes have been made in the effort to be more accepting of all students, especially transgender students. At Boulder Valley, the students can enter their preferred name and gender into the school computer system, instead of the district insisting on using the name that is on the student's birth certificate. The district office keeps the birth certificates confidential so that the principal and teacher may not even know that a student is a transgender (Brown, 2015). Since the changes

were made, the school district has seen a substantial increase of transgender students, as families have moved to the district (Brown, 2015).

In Chicago, a school district was directed by the Department of Education regarding how they could and could not accommodate a transgender student playing sports (Payne & Newsome, 2015). The district tried to have the student change clothes in her identifying gender locker room, but behind a curtain. The Department of Education ruled against the district (Payne & Newsome, 2015). The line between accommodations and discrimination came down to whether the student was able to choose the use of the privacy curtain. The Department of Education further stated that the use of a curtain might be okay; however, the school can not have a policy that singles out one student (Payne & Newsome, 2015).

In 2016, the National School Boards Association (NSBA) published a guide for school boards and staff about transgender students in school. The guide provides definitions; information on student's rights and privacy; and answers general questions, such as what is a transgender student and how to address a transgender student. When addressing a transgender student, the guide indicates treating the student with the same dignity and respect as any other students and making sure to follow the local school policy when addressing the students. The guide also includes explanations of discrimination, harassment, and student privacy. More details are provided to school boards that have questions about transgender students (NSBA, 2016). The guide is a great example how school districts constantly need to review their policies for potential changes.

LGBTQ in the Curriculum

The high school curriculum does not reflect the history of LGBTQ, and scholars have called for a curriculum that promotes the increased awareness of LGBTQ-related issues. Sieben (2010) related

If educators choose to omit LGBT history and literature from the curriculum, students receive messages of negative separateness and odd dissimilarity that are harmful not only to the self-esteem of LGBT youth, but also to the maturation of straight youth. (p. 48)

Many times, the curriculum is restructured to leave LGBTQ literature and related issues out of the curriculum fearing that controversial discussions might arise. Some parents may even disapprove of having LGBTQ topics discussed with their students. Sieben (2010) felt that contrary to the common belief that teaching about LGBTQ issues in the classroom might teach students how to engage in LGBTQ acts, teaching about LGBTQ in the classroom may teach students about acceptance.

Educators can find books that could be used to address LGBTQ issues and would fit into the secondary English language arts curriculum. Examples include *The Catcher in the Rye* (Salinger, 1951), *The Color Purple* (Walker, 1992), *The Perks of Being a Wallflower* (Chbosky, 1999). Sieben (2010) contended that if teachers were to integrate more LGBTQ friendly material into their curriculum, students might start seeing members of the LGBTQ community as part of their everyday lives instead of something that is abnormal.

A Massachusetts group called the Shared Heart is an organization that is dedicated to promoting positive images of homosexuals and bisexuals (Galley, 1999).

Shared Heart has developed a curriculum that centers on a book of portraits and handwritten text that describe the experiences of 40 gay and lesbian individuals. The book begins as a traveling photo exhibit, but the photographer quickly released them so that the book would be able to reach more people than the photo exhibit. Along with the book, other materials are available including a resource guide for teachers, parents, and students (Galley, 1999).

Some people feel that having young children learn about LGBTQ people in school could be bad for children, with the "belief that children are not developmentally ready to learn about LGBT issues and that being exposed to LGBT topics may harm children" (Fystrom, 2011, p. 3). Research conducted by Fystrom (2011) addressed the developmental appropriateness of children to learn LGBT topics in elementary school. The three purposes which guided the study were to: examine elementary school students developmental readiness for LGBT curriculum, replicate a 2007 Welcoming School guide that was developed by the Human Rights Campaign, and establish a way to measure the engagement both cognitively and emotionally of the students participating in the curriculum. Fystrom (2011) used both quantitative and qualitative techniques to measure student engagement. The results suggested, "Elementary children could behaviorally, cognitively, and emotionally engage in LGBT lessons" (Fystrom, 2011, p. 4). Additionally, no significant difference in engagement was measured between the students when they were working on LGBT lesson and when the students were working on non-LGBT lessons. According to Fystrom (2011), "Results provide strong evidence that 2nd, 3rd, 4th, and 5th grade students are developmentally ready to learn about LGBT

topics and they are not harmed by incorporating LGBT topics in elementary school curriculum" (p. 4).

Garcia (2012) completed a qualitative study on the support for LGBT youth in high school. Included in her study was a research question about whether an inclusive curriculum existed. Garcia (2012) found that there was a lack of inclusive curriculum which negatively affects the climate for the LGBT students. The participants in Garcia's study found the lack of an inclusive curriculum limited academic diversity. Garcia (2012) concluded that for LGBT youth to feel more included, the curriculum in schools needs to be more diverse.

San Francisco Unified School District's Ruth Asawa School of Arts offers a class on LGBTQ studies (Shallat, 2015). Included as part of the class are discussions about history, politics, government, media awareness, literature, film, and art. According to the teacher, there were no textbooks at that time for LGBTQ studies, so she had to be creative. The teacher used technology whenever possible to conduct Skype interviews and stay on top of current events in the LGBTQ community (Shallat, 2015). Since this class was taught in San Francisco, there was local LGBTQ history the students were able to study. The students were able to attend local LGBTQ museums to learn about the history of the LGBTQ community (Shallat, 2015).

LGBTQ Student Suicides

Hotlines are available for suicidal LGBTQ youth. The Trevor Project started with an award-winning short film about a young man becoming comfortable with the idea that he was gay. The short film helped lead the way for the first nationwide 24-hour crisis

line for intervention and suicide prevention for LGBTQ youth was launched. The crisis line has helped hundreds of thousands of young people in crisis (Ocamb, 2000).

Approximately one million adolescents attempt suicide each year (Gould, Greenberg, Velting, & Shaffer, 2003). The media has increasingly made the public aware of these tragedies (Gould et al., 2003). Research has been conducted investigating LGBTQ students and suicide. Hatzenbuehler (2011) completed a qualitative study on LGBT youth in Oregon. Using data from the Oregon Healthy Teen Survey, Hatzenbuehler (2011) found that, "LGBT youth were significantly more likely to attempt suicide in the previous 12 months, compared with heterosexual students was 21.5% versus 4.2%" (p. 900). Hatzenbuehler (2011) also noted that among LGBT youth, the risk of attempting suicide was 20% greater in unsupportive environments compared to supportive environments. Results have demonstrated that gay teens are two to three times more likely to attempt suicide than their heterosexual peers (Waidzunas, 2012).

Biegel and Kuehl (2010) wrote a brief in collaboration with Williams Institute at the UCCLA LAW School and the National Education Policy Center. In this brief, recommendations were made on how changes in school climate could help LGBT students feel more welcome and safe in high schools. Biegel and Kuehl (2010) recommended the implementation of LGBT-specific programs and activities at schools including safe zones, GSAs, and suicide prevention programs. Another recommendation included ideal wording for an article of legislation prohibiting bullying of LGBT students. The recommended legislation included facts about LGBT students and suicides. Biegel and Kuehl (2010) suggested that

When left unchecked, discrimination, including harassment, bullying, intimidation and violence, in schools based on sexual orientation or gender identity can lead, and has led to, life-threatening violence and to suicide. Studies indicate that gay and lesbian youth were 3-4 times more likely than heterosexual youth to attempt suicide. (p. 22)

The LGBTQ students committing suicide have been in college, high school, and even middle school. The list of young LGBTQ members who have committed suicide continues. Until bullying stops and LGBTQ youth feel loved and supported, the list may continue to grow.

Research has been conducted to determine how to prevent youth suicide. Caceres (2014) conducted quantitative research on how to help LGBTQ youth. The purpose of Caceres's research was to develop a suicide prevention and intervention program that would collaborate with local schools to assess risk factors and suicidal behaviors among LGBTQ youth. Caceres (2014) addressed four research goals to increase staff and teacher support with LGBTQ youth, develop interventions specific to LGBTQ youth, develop a 24-hour crisis response hotline, and develop a Likert scales for judges to evaluate the interventions put together of the LGBTQ youth. Caceres (2014) obtained feedback from four multidisciplinary judges based on their professional experiences working with LGBTQ population. The results of Caceres study showed that LGBTQ youth were not able to access mental health or crisis intervention services.

Efforts to create a safe, inclusive school for LGBTQ youth need to apply to students enrolled in K-12th grade. According to the American Academy of Pediatrics (2015), gender identity is established by the age of 4. To make all LGBTQ youth feel

safe and included, elementary school educators also need to be aware of how to make all students feel included. According to Kahn (2016), educators need to stop making assumptions based on gender roles and stereotypes. Kahn (2016) also stated that students need a place where they feel safe being themselves and educators use respectful language Summary

Conditions must change for LGBTQ students. Bullying policies in schools are needed to protect LGBTQ students. The history of LGBTQ shows the struggles the community has dealt with for decades. Bullying is still going on in schools, bullying was not addressed until the 1970s, and there is still room for much improvement (Hall, 2010). In more recent years, gender has started playing a bigger role in bullying. The study results from Street (2016) and Bratsis (2015) have shown that LGBTQ students and perceived LGBTQ students are frequent targets of bullying. The curriculum in schools does not currently include LGBTQ people. Small steps have been taken to help LGBTQ youth such as the Gay-Straight Alliances and the NOH8 Campaign, but there is room for much more improvement before the LGBTQ community feels safe. Chapter three contains a description of the research design, selection of participants, measurement, data collection procedures, analysis and synthesis of data, the researcher's role, and limitations.

Chapter Three

Methods

The purpose of this study was to determine the perceptions of former LGBTQ high school students related to their experiences while attending high school in northeast Kansas. Specifically, the purpose of this study was to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of and experiences with being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the curriculum and how curriculum is or is not inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and LGBTQ students threatening or committing suicide. This chapter includes a description of the research design and the selection of participants. Also, included in this chapter are the measurement, data collection procedures, analysis and synthesis of data, researcher role, and the limitations of the study.

Research Design

According to Bloomberg and Volpe (2012) "Each qualitative . . . researcher has ways of defining a research topic, critically engaging the literature on that topic, identifying significant research problems, designing the study and collecting, analyzing and presenting the data so that it will be most relevant and meaningful" (p. 45). This study followed a qualitative research design. Responsive interviews were used to explore the experiences and perceptions of LGBTQ former students from northeast Kansas.

According to Rubin and Rubin (2012), "Responsive interviewing emphasizes searching for context and richness while accepting the complexity and ambiguity of real life" (p. 38). Rubin and Rubin (2012) also stated that in responsive interviewing, questions

remain flexible, from the research topic to the last bit of analyzing the data. The issues that are explored in depth can evolve as the researcher finds more evidence (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The researcher prepared pre-determined questions in advance, and follow-up questions were asked of the participates when more information was needed.

Selection of Participants

Purposive sampling was used in the selection of participants. According to Bloomberg and Volpe (2012), "The logic of purposeful sampling lies in selecting information-rich cases, with the objective of yielding insight and understanding of the phenomenon under investigation" (p. 148). The participants were selected based on their belonging to the LGBTQ community, their attendance at a public high school in northeast Kansas, and their graduation from high school between 2011 and 2016. Potential participants were invited by social media, email, word of mouth, and handouts (see Appendix A) that were distributed at LGBTQ functions in the area. While finding participants, the researcher attempted to get members from each classification of the LGBTQ community. A balanced number or proportion of each part of the LGBTQ community was sought. The seventeen participants picked for the interview represented all subcategories of the LGBTQ community. After the researcher had seventeen participants, the names of other potential participants were kept in case one of the original participants chose not to participate.

Pseudonyms were used to protect the identities of the participants. For example, Joe attended a small rural school with 45 students in his graduation class. Joe identifies as a gay man. Ann attended a large urban school and graduated with over 300 students. Ann identifies as transgender.

Measurement

Per Rubin and Rubin (2012), qualitative interviews are conversations in which a researcher gently guides a conversational partner in an extended discussion. Per Bloomberg and Volpe (2012), for a qualitative study to establish trustworthiness, it is important to seek and establish credibility and dependability. The researcher elicits depth and detail about a research topic by following up on answers given by the interviewee during the discussion. While conducting the interviews for this study, the researcher had open-ended conversations with the participants. Open-ended conversations are defined as dialogs between the researcher and the participants, where the participants are able to share as much information as they are comfortable (Rubin, 2012). Interviews for this study were conducted by video conferencing and in-person to gain information.

The following statements and questions were posed to each of the participants:

- 1. Tell me about yourself and your high school experiences.
- 2. What experiences have you had or observed of LGBTQ students being bullied in high school?
- 3. What experiences have you had or observed with teacher and staff responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students?
- 4. If you as an LGBTQ person or someone you observed that was an LGBTQ person was bullied, what was your response?
- 5. What were LGBTQ students' responses when they were bullied?
 - a. What experiences did you have while in high school of LGBTQ students threatening or committing harm to themselves?
- 6. What school policies were in place to protect LGBTQ students from bullying?

- 7. When LGBTQ students were bullied at school, what consequences were enforced?
 - a. How effective were school policies at protecting LGBTQ students?
- 8. What did you learn in classes about the LGBTQ community and history in high school?

The main questions used in this study were directly related to the research questions and the purpose of this study. The eight interview questions for this study were designed so that the person being interviewed could be truthful and elaborate their responses to give as much detail as possible. The questions were developed so that study participants could share their experiences. The researcher used prompts and probes to encourage the participants to provide additional details whenever needed. Rubin and Rubin (2012) suggested that "Follow-up question explore the interviewee's answer to obtain further depth and detail" (p. 117). The interviews were recorded and transcribed.

Data Collection Procedures

Before the study was conducted, permission from Baker University was obtained after the Institutional Review Board (IRB) form (see Appendix B) was submitted. The Baker University IRB committee granted approval for the study (see Appendix C). Data collection began after the approval was granted by the Baker University IRB committee. Seventeen former northeast Kansas high school students, who identify as LGBTQ, were contacted by recruitment email or handouts, which were distributed on social media, and at local LGBTQ events and meetings. Individuals who responded to the email or recruitment handouts were contacted via e-mail to confirm their interest and voluntary participation in the study. Members from each of the five groups in the LGBTQ

community were recruited. After the researcher had recruited 17 participants, he kept the names of other people interested, in case more participants were needed. Demographic information including age, school district attended, and how the interviewee identified as part of the LGBTQ community were collected to provide a comparison of trends from the data. Participants were interviewed in one of three ways: in person, by phone, or by video phone calls. The consent forms were presented to each participant before the interview (see Appendix D). The consent form explained that the researcher was conducting a study on LGBTQ bullying policies and their participation would take from thirty minutes to an hour. The researcher asked for permission to record the interview. Participants were required to read the consent form and were asked if they had any questions. Before any interviews were conducted, the participant's questions were answered, and a signed consent form was received. Participants were reminded that they could stop the interview at any time and choose not to participate in the study. Participants were informed that they would be assigned pseudonyms to protect the identity and privacy of the participants.

Data collection for this study consisted of an interview session with each participant. The interview sessions were conducted at locations that were convenient for the participants. All interviews took place from December 2016 to February 2017. Each interview was audio recorded, and interviews were then transcribed by using Trint online transcribing program. During the transcription process, all language used during the interviews was captured, including transition words, such as and, um, etc. After the interviews had been transcribed, a transcript was provided to each participant for review. Participants were given the opportunity for a member check. A member check is when

participants are given a chance to have changes made to the transcript if there was incorrect information included (Creswell, 2014). These recordings and transcribed interviews were kept on an external drive along with the consent forms and stored in a locked file cabinet in the researcher's home. The external drive and the consent form were disposed of three years after the dissertation was defended.

Analysis and Synthesis of Data

The interview recordings and transcripts were examined thoroughly for any differences. Dedoose Research Analysis software was used to analyze and code the responses from each interview. The interviews were first transcribed into text and then uploaded to the Dedoose website. Dedoose was used to help separate and organize the contents of interviews into different categories and themes.

After each participant had been interviewed, the interview was transcribed. The transcript was uploaded to the password protect online software Dedoose. Rubin and Rubin (2012) said, "Systematic coding forces you to look not just at what you remember from the interviews but also at the passages that might modify your ideas or indicate when and how your ideas might be true or not true" (p. 192). Through personal reading and the work of Dedoose, the researcher reviewed the responses for concepts, themes, and examples. Using Dedoose excerpts from transcripts, the same theme or concepts were coded for referencing. The material in each systematically coded section was sorted, and then the results were summarized.

Following the advice of Rubin and Rubin (2012), the researcher started with the systematic coding of the concepts and the themes. The research then looked for concepts and explanation that the interviewee emphasized. Finally, the themes and the concepts

the researcher worked out may, in turn, suggest others that were closely related (Rubin & Rubin 2012). The researcher combined the concepts and themes into categories, and the responses were used to arrive at conclusions.

Researcher's Role

Per Bloomberg and Volpe (2012), "Researchers recognize and acknowledge that their own background shapes their interpretation, and they thus 'position' themselves in the research to acknowledge their own cultural, social and historical experiences" (p. 43). The researcher was an elementary principal in a small rural town in a northeast Kansas school district. He held a bachelor's degree in elementary education and a master's degree in school leadership and was a doctoral candidate in educational leadership. The researcher is also a member of the LGBTQ community. The researcher has had experiences in his life as a member LGBTQ community that have been negative. The researcher had experienced bullying, which could potentially bias the researcher's analysis and conclusions. The researcher held a practice interview before conducting the interviews with participants. The researcher maintained an objective and professional attitude throughout the interviews. The researcher asked the prepared questions and allowed for follow-up questions and responses to keep the interview and answers in the same format.

Limitations

Per Lunenburg and Irby (2008), the limitations of a study are not under the control of the researcher, and there may be factors that influence the interpretations of the findings. The results of the study are limited to only the people who voluntarily responded to be interviewed. Some of the participants may have remembered incorrectly

how LGBTQ students were treated at their high schools. The participants may not have been honest in answering all the questions and may have had a bias toward the school district they attended. A potential limitation is that the interviewer may not have been unbiased and could have potentially influenced the participations.

Summary

Chapter three included the research methods employed in this study. Provided in the chapter were the research design, selection of participants, measurement, data collection procedures, data analysis, the researcher's role, and the limitations. The research findings are discussed in chapter four.

Chapter Four

Results

The results of this study are described in this chapter. The purpose of this study was to determine the perceptions of former LGBTQ high school students related to their experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. The researcher believes a better understanding of the people in LGBTQ community would help educators understand LGBTQ students. Seventeen participants who identify in the LGBTQ community were interviewed for this study. This chapter presents the key findings related to the six research questions. Each finding includes an explanation of what the major finding was, developments that emerged from the finding, and participant responses.

The participants for the study were a diverse group of people. Eight men identify as gay, five women identify as lesbians, one participant identifies as a bisexual, one participant identifies as a trans male, one participant identifies trans female, and one participant identifies as questioning. All participants interviewed were between the ages of 18 and 25 and graduated from high school between 2011 and 2016. The participants attended a high school in Marshall, Nemaha, Brown, Doniphan, Pottawatomie, Jackson, Atchison, Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Jefferson, Wabaunsee, Shawnee, Douglas, Johnson, and Osage Counties in Kansas.

Experiences with Bullying

The first research question was "What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with bullying of LGBTQ students while attending high school?" All but one of the 17 participants had either been bullied or had seen LGBTQ

students being bullied in high school. One participant, Nancy, who identifies as a lesbian and was not out in high school, attended a small rural school with fewer than 50 people in her graduating class. She was not on the receiving end of bullying, but she witnessed much bullying. She relayed an example,

There was a kid younger than I was and he got a lot of grief for it [being gay]. I mean he came out when he was in middle school People kind of always like made fun of him for it He got a lot of crap for it, and it took a toll on him.

Another participant, Albert, who identifies as gay and was out in high school, attended a large urban school with over 400 students in his graduating class. His experiences were limited to verbal bullying and teasing. He said,

Teasing is just about it [bullying that he received] that's pretty much it. There was definitely a time before I came out when I was you know teased about it [being gay] but you know I hadn't been out yet, people were just assuming things.

The one participant who did not experience or see any bullying of LGBTQ people was Bart, who attended a large suburb district and was not out in high school. The high school he attended included over 400 students in his graduating class. He stated, "I didn't really hear very much about it." When asked to explain more, Bart went on to say that, "A majority of the people who went to my high school would not come out until they're out of high school." When asked why, he stated, "It's just something we didn't talk about. I mean like there was a perception that being gay was bad, and they would be bullied. But the bullies didn't really know who was gay to bully them."

Only one participant, Gerald, brought up both cyberbullying and physical bullying when asked about students being bullied in school. Gerald identifies as a gay man. He attended an urban school with over 300 students in his graduating class. He said,

It's mostly a lot of cyberbullying lately. I've seen a lot of comments on Facebook lately . . . I think most of the bullying that I've noticed has been cyberbullying at least with my high school. There have been a few incidents where there was a girl who was pushed down, her books thrown everywhere outside because she had a crush on a girl and somebody freaked out about it. But as far as bullying it's mostly comments and cyberbullying.

In relationship to RQ1, participants mentioned verbal bullying in their responses. Nine of the participants talked about different forms of verbal bullying. The forms of bullying ranged from teasing to gay slurs and derogatory names being said to participants. Other types of bullying mentioned in one of the interviews were cyberbullying and physical bullying.

District Staff Responses to Bullying

To address research question two, "What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with district staff responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students?," the participants were asked, "What experiences have you had or observed with teachers and staff responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students?" Eight participants talked about teachers and staff who supported stopping the bullying of LGBTQ students. The remaining nine participants did not have a positive experience with the teachers and staff. Two participants experienced teachers who ignored the bullying that happened. The teachers would leave the room, or pretend as if they had not

heard the bullying of the student. While two other participants had experienced with teachers, who bullied them and would also join in on the bullying when they saw the participants being bullied.

James identifies as questioning and was not out in high school. He attended a rural district with almost 100 students in his graduating class. He stated "I've witnessed a few times teachers like taking part in the language [bullying of LGBTQ students].

Another participant interviewed was Cara, a lesbian who was out in high school. She attended a suburban school district with approximately 150 students in its graduating class, Cara had quite different experiences with acceptance from her teachers. Cara stated, that

If anyone was the bully in school, it would have been the teachers and in a very passive way The teachers would say, see I like you as a person, but I don't accept your lifestyle, which isn't bullying per say, but it made me feel less safe in their classrooms and less accepted.

One participant who went to a school that was very supportive was Derek, a gay male who was not out in high school. He attended high school in a large suburban school district with over 400 students in its graduating class. At his school, Derek said that "Most teachers back up the LGBTQ members, and the school is very supportive, and I know that if they saw or witnessed any type of bullying of that sort they would stand up for them [the victims of the bullying]."

Another participant who struggled with how teachers and other staff responded to the bullying of LGBTQ students was Harold. Harold is a gay male, who was out while in high school. He attended school in a rural area with about 100 students in his graduating

class. Harold stated that he was bullied quite a bit in high school. He went on to state that in his opinion, some of the administrators' favorite students were the students that would follow him around and do whatever they could to make his life a little more difficult. He said,

The administrators could have very easily nipped this problem in the butt [bud], they could have just flexed just a little bit of their administrative power, and they didn't. The administrators chose to allow it to happen . . . And eventually like my friends at school helped handle a situation where three teachers and an administrator were able to keep them [the bullies] in school allowing them to continue doing what they did. And because the problem was never dealt with even in life now when they [the bullies] see me and I see them they don't mess with me any longer. But I also don't want to, see them, I would never want to shake hands or say hello. I mean four years of hell is a lot to catch back up with.

Educators were perceived to have handled differently the LGBTQ bullying problems that arose. The nine participants who did not have the support of their educators saw some behavior that upset them. Teachers and administrators ignored bullying, would not acknowledge that bullying was taking place, and at times joined in with the verbal bullying.

District Policies Related to Bullying

The third research question was, "What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with district policies related to the bullying of LGBTQ students?" The participants were asked, "What school policies were in place to protect LGBTQ students from bullying?" Two students did not know about the bullying policies

in their school districts. The other 15 participants knew there were no harassment and no bullying policies at their schools. All participants said there were no policies that exclusively mentioned LGBTQ students.

Inga is a bisexual woman who came out in high school. She attended high school in a large urban district with over 400 students in her graduating class. When asked about policies she stated,

I'm trying to think because I can't remember if there is any policy specifically put in place for LGBTQ. I'm almost certain that there were like general policies put in place about school violence and things of that nature, obviously around things like that, but none specifically towards the safety of LGBTQ students.

Inga's response reflected the perception of the majority of the participants. No bullying allowed policies existed, but none that specifically addressed LGBTQ bullying.

Melissa is a lesbian who was not out in high school; she attended a suburban school district with approximately 150 students in her graduating class. When she was asked about school policies in place to protect students from bullying, she said,

I don't think there was anything that was specific to them [LGBTQ students]. I think there was a general bullying policy. The rules, don't say mean things on the Internet, be nice to each other. I mean I was involved in student government, so I knew the handbook and the rule book pretty well. There was nothing that was specific to that, [LGBTQ] same with race, honestly or anything that was like specific. It was very broad it was very much a golden rule everyone be nice to each other We will not discriminate.

All participants were aware of the bullying policies in their schools. They had a good understanding of what type of bullying was addressed in their school policies.

Some of the participants were able to quote the policies while others could summarize the policies.

District Policies Related to Protection

The fourth research question was, "What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with district policies related to the protection of LGBTQ students who are bullied?" The participants were asked two questions for this research question. The first question to address research question four was, "When LGBTQ students were bullied at school, what consequences were enforced?" None of the participants were aware of a defined punishment for bullying of LGBTQ students, but there were consequences for bullying. Depending on the school district and the number of times the offense was committed, the consequences included visits to the office, detentions, in-school suspensions, and out of school suspension to the administration being lax and having no consequences at all for the bully. Inga summarized the type of consequences that resulted from bullying well, "The normal consequences as if they had been doing any other type like disobedient action in school. They were very often given detention."

James also summarized what he saw in school well. James stated, "The bully would probably get detention." He went on to say, "I think there was one instance where there was like a threat of some kind. And the person got out of school suspension. By no means were they like punished by law It seemed glossed over or hush hushed."

The second question to address research question four was, "How effective were school policies at protecting LGBTQ students? Over half of the participants did not feel the school policies were effective at protecting the LGBTQ students. Quinn, who identifies as transgender, was out in high school, and attended a large urban school district, simply answered the question by saying, "Ineffective, little to none" [referring to the protection]. Melissa also answered the question.

I don't think they [the policies] were very effective at all. I think that they [the district] assume it doesn't happen or that they can treat it the same as they would treat someone who is getting bullied for being overweight or for whatever for being weird I don't think it was a very effective like and there wasn't really anything there to protect like a specific individual.

One of the two participants who did think policies were effective at his school was Ethan. He is a gay man, who was out in high school. He attended a large suburban school district with almost 300 students in his graduating class. He stated that "Oh I feel for the most part it was a very good environment . . . They [the teachers] would be able to keep away from the bullying and keep a positive environment around."

The second person who thought their school did a good job protecting the students was Peter. He came out as transgender in high school, in the middle of transitioning, and attended a large urban district. The large school Peter attended had over 400 students in his graduating class. Peter said,

I think the school probably did as good as it could have done; they did pretty well.

I think I was the first trans person to come out at school and to be open about it,
and do the transition while in school.

All participants stated in their interviews that there was not a defined punishment that singled out the bullying of LGBTQ students. There were broad policies for bullying, but nothing that made the consequences specific if it was bullying due to the person identifying as LGBTQ. The range of consequences varied quite a bit depending on what school the participants attended.

Inclusive Curriculum

The fifth research question was, "What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with a curriculum that was inclusive of LGBTQ students?" The question asked of the participants was, "What did you learn in your classes about the LGBTQ community and history in high school?" Three participants said they had learned something related to LGBTQ in high school. Gerald said,

I mean in history, I kind of learned about Stonewall. I was kind of interested in that from the brief thing that we had learned on it. And so I researched it more. I was in the GSA. And so every week we would have a meeting we would have like a history lesson or something else with that.

Olivia is another participant who learned about LGBTQ history at school. Olivia is a lesbian who was not out in high school. She attended a small urban school district with fewer than 100 graduating students in her class. She said,

My literature teacher for my junior and senior year. I think she knew [about Olivia being gay]. And she was like super supportive in her own way without actually confronting me. So, she recommended Virginia Woolf as an author to me. And Virginia Woolf was an early 1900s author, female author . . . She's

[Virginia Wolf] married but had bisexual like tendencies or influences especially in her writing. Some of her stuff was banned because of it.

The third person to learn about the LGBTQ community and history in high school was Harold. He said,

We covered Harvey Milk. I was a junior when I first remember hearing about it.

. . We talked a little bit about you know how back then they saw homosexuality as a mental illness But we did discuss in class, and I had great teachers who would look at people and go, 'So how does that make you feel?'

A majority of the participants said they learned nothing about the LGBTQ community or famous LGBTQ people in school. Kay is a lesbian who was not out in high school. She attended a large suburban school district with almost 300 students in her graduating class. Kay's response was similar to the other 14 participants, she said, "No, I don't think we ever talked about that in class. We might have mentioned stuff like related to the government class, but just briefly."

When asked about the curriculum being inclusive of LGBTQ, the participants were quick to answer. The reactions of eight of the participants were short quick answers as if they found the question humorous; three actually laughed a little at the question. Participants thought it was humorous to think about learning something about LGBTQ in school.

Suicide

The sixth research question was, "What are former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions of and experiences with LGBTQ students threatening or committing

suicide?" The participants were asked two questions for this research question. "What were LGBTQ students' responses when they were bullied?" was the first question asked.

The first question for research question six was answered in many different ways by the participants, but most of the responses the LGBTQ participants mentioned, were how the participants came up with coping mechanisms to protect themselves. Olivia, who provided an example of a student, said, "He would just be like comeback after comeback after comeback, [whenever he was verbally bullied]." Derek said that

I think we're all like; I think everybody kind of reacts the same way. I have seen one incident when just like, why are you doing this to me. What's so threatening about who I am or like what I'm doing right now. And I think that's a good way to respond because most of the time they can't come up with an answer. It's just oh you are different than what I am, and that's pretty much it.

Ethan offered a response that was similar to seven of the other participants. Ethan said, "Those people don't matter if they can talk to you like this and just tune them out.

You have people who support you and love you and care about you."

Another participant with a good example of how students responded to bullying was Frank. He identified as a gay male and attended a suburban district with just under 100 students. He was not out in high school. He responded to the question by stating, "They kind of brushed it off . . . they seemed to not care. They seemed like they were used to it."

Inga said, "Their responses were always kind of like yeah I understand why this happened We live in a rural district in Kansas, so anytime anyone of us was bullied we were always just kind of like well this is where we live, and this is how it is." Larry

said, "His [the out students'] responses were just like screw you guys. I mean this is what it is. Are you comfortable with it? I mean he was more comfortable with himself, and that makes sense."

The second question asked for research question six was, "What experiences did you have while in high school of LGBTQ students threatening or committing harm to themselves?" Out of the 17 participants interviewed, 13 had some experiences while in high school of LGBTQ students threatening or committing harm to themselves. Inga's response was similar to the other participants who had experiences with self-harm, Inga said, "I was good friends with several people who identified as LGBTQ spectrum who cut themselves. I had a couple of friends who tried to commit suicide several times."

One common trend that was mentioned by most of the participants when discussing self-harm was cutting. Some of the participants themselves said they did self-harm by cutting. Melissa summarized the issue well; she said, "It came down to cutting was kind of a big thing. I feel like for people or certain people who didn't feel like they fit in or had an issue they could talk about."

Two of the participants had experienced the suicide of a student while they were in school. Cara said, "The school was grief stricken." Gerald also had an experience at school that was difficult for him, he said,

There was one girl in my junior year who she was in a choir . . . It was second semester, and she just didn't come to school one day . . . And you know she was she was upbeat always happy and never showed any signs of anything like . . . But I guess she was being bullied, and nobody said anything about it . . . She had ended up killing herself, and it was I mean it shook the whole school.

The participants were the most emotional with this question. The participants took a longer time with this question, and two of the participants were very close to tears. Over half of participants made comments about how when there were suicides or self-harm, the problem was not addressed head on; instead, it was not mentioned.

Summary

A summary of the six findings from the interviews indicated that participants perceived that their high school experiences as members of the LGBTQ community were not always good. Participants experienced bullying, educators who were not supportive, and a curriculum that was not inclusive. Some participants even struggled with self-harm. None of the participant's schools had policies exclusively for the protection of the LGBTQ students. The schools where some of the participants attended were doing things that helped the LGBTQ students. In chapter five, a study summary including a study summary, the findings related to the literature, and the conclusions.

Chapter Five

Interpretation and Recommendations

This qualitative study was conducted to examine former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions related to their experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. The first section of this chapter is a study summary, which includes an overview of the problem, the purpose statement and research questions, the review of the methodology, and the major findings. The second section reports the findings of the study related to the literature. The last section, conclusions, contains the implications for action, recommendations for future research, and concluding remarks.

Study Summary

This study was designed to investigate the experiences and perceptions of LGBTQ students when they attended high school. Seventeen participants from northeast Kansas schools were interviewed for this study. The following is a review of the major sections of the study to provide information for the conclusion and suggestion for further research.

Overview of the problem. Student bullying can be found in almost every school in America (DeVoe & Murphy, 2011). LGBTQ students are bullied in schools every day, and their experiences in high school can make life very difficult for them.

Sometimes the difficulties lead to suicides. The current bullying policies at most school district do not protect the LGBTQ students. Some school districts have policies that discriminate against LGBTQ students. It is not known if the school districts are doing enough to protect the LGBTQ students.

In 2016, the U.S. Justice Department published a Federal guidance over transgender students and restrooms in response to states barring transgender students from using restrooms consistent with their gender identity (Walsh, 2016). Many states have filed lawsuits against these guidelines. These guidelines help school districts understand how the Department of Justice and Education feel school districts should be treating transgender students.

School district needs to know what to do for LGBTQ students, so they feel safe and included. School districts must be aware of the changing laws so that they can do more to protect LGBTQ students from bullying. School districts should also learn how to work with LGBTQ students so that the students can feel safe and protected.

Purpose statement and research questions. The purpose of this study was to determine the perceptions of former LGBTQ high school students related to their experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. Specifically, the purpose was to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of and experiences with being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the extent that the curriculum was inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and LGBTQ students threatening to commit suicide or committing suicide. Six research questions were posed to address the purposes of this study.

Review of the methodology. The researcher used a qualitative approach to examine the perceptions of former LGBTQ high school students from northeast Kansas. The approach allowed the researcher to discover how various members of the LGBTQ community were treated in high school. The qualitative research also provided an

opportunity to explore the knowledge of the participants with school policies concerning LGBTQ protection. The researcher facilitated face-to-face and video conferencing interviews with LGBTQ participants. During the interview process, the researcher explored the participants' perceptions and experiences in high school. The interview questions were designed to gather participants' knowledge, perceptions, and experiences relating to LGBTQ students being bullied, how staff responded to bullying, how bullied students responded, if self-harm was witnessed, what type of protection and policies were available, what type of consequences were enforced, and what type of LGBTQ history or curriculum was taught while they were in school. After the interviews had been transcribed, they were loaded into Deedoose Research Analysis software. Dedoose was used to separate the information from the interviews, and then contents were compared and analyzed.

Major findings. The first major finding from this study was related to the first research question regarding the participants' perceptions and experiences with bullying while in high school. The results of the interview analysis were used to determined that all but one of the participants were either bullied or witnessed bullying due to being LGBTQ. The trend with this finding was that students even who were assumed LGBTQ or not even out were also bullied. The bullying was mainly verbally bullying, but both cyberbullying and physical bullying were reported.

The second major finding of the study is related to the participants' perceptions and experiences with district staff responses to bullying of LGBTQ students. Eight of the participants reported that teachers and staff were supportive of stopping the bullying of

LGBTQ students. The other nine participants did not have positive experiences with the staff. One of the participants perceived they were bullied by the teachers and staff.

The third major finding of the study was related to the participants' perceptions and experiences with district policies related to the bullying of LGBTQ students. Fifteen of the 17 participants were aware of the school policies. The school policies addressed bullying and harassment, but none of the policies were specifically designed to protect the LGBTQ students. Some of the participants were able to quote the policies while others could summarize what the policies at their schools addressed.

The fourth major finding of the study was related to the participants' perceptions and experiences with the district policies and how they did or did not protect the students who were bullied. None of the participants were aware of any defined consequences for the bullying of LGBTQ students. Fifteen of the participants did not feel as if the school policies were effective at protecting the LGBTQ students. The participants were aware of the bullying policies, but no one reported district policies that offered specific protection to the LGBTQ students.

The fifth major finding of the study was related to participant experiences with a curriculum that was inclusive of LGBTQ students. Out of the seventeen participants, only three could recall discussing or learning anything about LGBTQ people in high school during a literature class. Many of the participants only had learned about LGBTQ history by researching the information themselves.

The sixth major finding of the study was related to the participants' perceptions and experiences with LGBTQ students threatening or committing suicide. The participants had many examples of how the LGBTQ students in their school developed

mechanisms to protect themselves. Thirteen of the participants were aware of LGBTQ students harming themselves or trying to commit suicide; the harm included both cutting and suicide.

Findings Related to the Literature

Six research questions were developed related to the purposes of this study. Each research question was based on information found in the literature. In this section, the results of the current research are compared to what was written in the literature.

According to Bullying Statistics (2016), one of every four children could be bullied sometime during their adolescence. This statistic proved to be an underestimate from the population interviewed; each of the seventeen participants had witnessed bullying while in high school. The participants in this study talked about different types of bullying including direct bullying, verbal bullying, and cyberbullying.

Chatman (2015) stated that 77% of participants were bullied because they were gay or perceived to be gay. The results of McFall's (2015) study showed that it can be difficult to be out in high school. The results of the current study were similar to Chatman's and McFall's results because 16 of the 17 participants either witnessed bullying or were themselves bullied.

The results from the current study did not agree with Cooper and Blumenfeld (2012). The result of Cooper and Blumenfeld's survey showed that over 60% of the LGBT and 8% of the allied participants reported being electronically harassed. In the current research, only two participants discussed electronic bullying.

Marshall et al. (2015) stated that to help students from being bullied, it was vital that LGBTQ students have supportive school personnel. The results of this research

indicated that not all district staff were supportive. For example, the participations that experienced bullying from the staff were not supported. The results of the current research were the same as Robertson (2014) study, which found that students experienced discrimination from both school staff and students. These results also agreed with Street's (2016) results, which determined that the school was not doing an adequate job of protecting these students.

According to Bratsis (2015), to help prevent the bullying of LGBTQ youth, educators need to be aware of their biases and the way their biases may affect how they talk to students. Diaz et al. (2010) stated that schools should implement and enforce "comprehensive policies that include sexual orientation, gender identity and gender expression" (p. 14). The results of Diaz et al.'s research showed that educators needed to be aware of their biases and have comprehensive policies. In the current study, fifteen of the participants knew what their school district policies were, but stating that the policies were not working well since all but one participant were either bullied or witness bullying due to being LGBTQ.

The researcher found that the participants were very knowledgeable about the policies at their schools regarding LGBTQ students. According to DeNisco (2015), some school policies are in place that state bullying is wrong, but the policies have been found to have little to no effect. Toleson (2014), concluded that high schools should focus on providing youth a safe, supportive learning environment for students to achieve more and be more satisfied with the school. Over half of the participants in the current study did not feel the school policies were effective at protecting the LGBTQ students at their school. The other participants felt that their policies at their school did help protect all

students from bullying. These results also agreed with Barragan-Rebolledo (2013) which suggested that principals needed assistance with providing professional development for their staff with integrating LGBTQ topics in the classroom. These results agree with what Holliday (2016) found in that teachers are not knowledgeable of the content of their school policies and that they have had limited exposure to those policies.

According to Sieben (2010), the high school curriculum does not reflect the history of LGBTQ and scholars have called for a curriculum that promotes the increased awareness of LGBTQ-related issues. Also, according to Vega et al. (2012), the term heteronormativity denotes everything being referred to as normal when heterosexual, and everything that is not heterosexual is referred to as the "other." Findings from the current research found that only three of the participants learned or heard anything in class about the LGBTQ community. The majority of the participants in this study did not learn anything about LGBTQ community at school. These results also agreed with Garcia (2012) who concluded that for LGBT youth to feel more included, the curriculum in schools needs to be more diverse.

According to Gould et al. (2003), approximately one million adolescents attempt suicide each year. Biegel and Kuehl (2010) recommended the implementation of LGBT-specific programs and activities at schools including safe zones, GSAs, and suicide prevention programs. Hatzenbuehler (2011) found that LGBT youth were more likely to attempt suicide in the previous 12 months. The results of the current research agreed with the literature, a majority of the participants had in some form an experience with LGBTQ students threatening self-harm or suicide.

Conclusions

This qualitative study was designed and conducted to examine LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions and experiences while attending high school. Specifically, the former high school students' perceptions and experiences with being bullied in high school were examined. In this section, the implications for action, recommendations for future research, and concluding remarks are included.

Implications for action. The findings from this study provided evidence that action was needed in several areas. For the bullying that is taking place in high schools, educators and school boards need to have policies that are followed and can truly protect all the students in the schools. Bullying should not be something that students should have to deal with while they are attending high school. The results of this research lead to a recommendation that school administrators review their district's bullying policies to see if they can be changed to help end the bullying at school. The results also indicate that administration needs to follow through to make sure all students feel protected.

The results of this research also showed that school staff, including teachers and administrators in some schools, have joined in the bullying of LGBTQ students or completely ignore the bullying when it was taking place. Some of the participants of the study had very poor interactions with their educators, which is unfortunate, and could be prevented if school staff received appropriate training. These actions by school employees do not help the LGBTQ students feel safe at school. Diversity training is recommended for all school staff so that they have a greater understanding what it is like to be a member of a community different from than themselves. Policies also need to be

developed by the school districts that prohibit employees from ignoring bullying or joining in with the bullying towards the students.

The high school curriculum in northeast Kansas was shown in the results of this research not to be inclusive. Students, especially LGBTQ students, need to learn about the LGBTQ people and community in school. School districts need to look at using a curriculum that is not only inclusive of the LGBTQ community, but that is not heteronormative. Schools are made up of a diverse population, and the students in schools deserve to feel included.

The last recommendations related to the results of this research deals with students harming themselves or threatening to commit suicide. LGBTQ students in school need to know that there is help if they need it, where to get help, and that they are not alone. School districts should explore having GSAs or another type of welcoming group so that all students have a place they feel they can belong and feel welcome. Suicide prevention training should also be required for all school staff. The training would help all staff be aware of the signs of students considering suicide.

Recommendations for future research. The following recommendations represent areas in which the researcher has identified as areas which could use more research. Researchers could build upon the results of this study to determine whether the experiences of LGBTQ students are the same for students from different areas of Kansas. Since Kansas is a conservative Midwestern state, it would be interesting to determine whether LGBTQ students in other states had experiences similar to those of the participants in this research.

A mixed methods study could be conducted by adding a pre-interview survey to capture quantitative data. The data could be analyzed and compared to the qualitative data to see if the results are similar. The quantitative data could reveal other areas for discussion during the interviews.

Further research could also be conducted with the high school staff. A survey could be administered before and after staffs receive training on how to work with LGBTQ students. The survey could be used to determine whether their attitudes toward and knowledge of policies related to LGBTQ students changed after the training. The survey results would also inform administration of the areas in which more training is needed.

Another area of additional research would include how different school districts handle the punishment for the bullying of LGBTQ students. From the results of this research, districts handle consequences very differently for the same offenses. Further research into how schools decide on their policies and consequences for students to make things fairer for students across the state. This research could be accomplished by interviewing or surveying superintendents and inquiring about their policies, the process for policy development, and the consequences for not following the policies.

Additional research could compare the difference between "straight" and LGBTQ students' perceptions and experiences with LGBTQ students being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the curriculum and how it was inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and the experiences of LGBTQ students with negative consequences of the bullying. Interviews of the straight

participants could be compared to the LGBTQ participants to determine similarities and differences.

Further research could be conducted to see if a diversity curriculum helped students feel more included in school, along with helping with the bullying problems. A survey could be administered to students before and after receiving diversity training.

The results of the surveys could be compared to determine if the diversity training helped with bullying and if more students are feeling included.

One of the major findings of the current study was that bullying of LGBTQ students that took place was primarily verbal rather than cyber-bullying or physical bullying. Future research should be conducted to determine whether these results were unique to the participants in the current study. Other results may appear related to cyber-bullying due to advances in technology. Additionally, with a different participant pool, physical bullying results may be different.

Additional research could be conducted to determine the knowledge of LGBTQ issues among superintendents. The superintendents as leaders of the district could be the example of how to treat LGBTQ students. Administering surveys to the superintendents to measure their knowledge of working with LGBTQ students could help identify areas that the superintendents need more training.

Concluding remarks. Educators must understand the diversity of their students to protect and educate them. Bullying is happening in the schools, even when schools have policies against bullying. Teachers must be more proactive in protecting the students, especially the LGBTQ students who are at a higher risk of self-harming behavior. Teachers can be more proactive if they have the proper training to know how

to work with LGBTQ students. School districts should examine their current, and if necessary, be required to adopt bullying policies that protect all their students including LGBTQ students. LGBTQ students need to know they have support at school so that they are not tempted to harm themselves. When LGBTQ students learn about LGBTQ people like themselves at school, in the curriculum, they can feel more accepted and normalized. When LGBTQ students feel accepted and included, they are more likely to be successful in of their lifework.

References

- American Academy of Pediatrics. (2015) *Gender identity development in children*.

 Retrieved from https://www.healthychildren.org/English/ages-stages/gradeschool/pages/Gender-Identity-and-Gender-Confusion-In-Children.aspx
- American Psychoanalytic Association. (2012). Position statement regarding the impact of bullying and harassment on gender non-conforming and LGBTQIA youth.

 Retrieved from http://www.apsa.org/About_APsaA/Position_Statements/

 Impact_of_Bullying_and_Harassment.aspx
- Baams, L., Grossman, A. H., & Russell, S. T. (2015). Minority stress and mechanisms of risk for depression and suicidal ideation among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth.

 *Developmental Psychology, 51(5), 699-696. doi:10.1037/a0038994
- Bagley, J. P. (2016). Are gay-straight alliances working? Advisors' perceived role of and level of success of GSAs in combatting the bullying epidemic in South Carolina (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis database. (UMI No. 10127108)
- Barragan-Rebolledo, F., Jr. (2013). *The exploration of information about the knowledge*of LGBTQ issues among elementary school principals (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3572791)
- Beaty, L. A., & Alexeyev, E. B. (2008). The problem of school bullies: What the research tells us. *Adolescence*, *43*(169), 1-11. Retrieved from https://www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-adolescence/

- Biegel, S., & Kuehl, S. J. (2010). Safe at school: Addressing the school environment and LGBT safety through policy and legislation. Retrieved from https://bakeru.idm.oclc.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED513906&site=ehost-live
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2012). *Completing your qualitative dissertation*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Boulton, M. J. (2014). High school pupils' understanding of peer counselling and willingness to use it for different types of bullying. *Pastoral Care in Education*, 32(2), 95-103. doi:10.1080/02643944.2013.861505
- Bradley, R. (2015). *Gay-straight alliance clubs in high school: An investigation of the safety benefits of these clubs* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis database. (UMI No. 3738981)
- Bratsis, M. E. (2015). Supporting bullied LGBT students. *Science Teacher*, 82(9).

 Retrieved from

 https://learningcenter.nsta.org/resource/?id=10.2505/4/tst15_082_09_12
- Brittenham, K. (2004). Equal protection theory and the Harvey Milk High School: Why anti-subordination alone is not enough. *Boston College Law Review*, 45(4), 869-904.
- Brown, J. (2015, November 20). A culture shift. *The Denver Post*. Retrieved from http://extras.denverpost.com/transgender/culture.html
- Brown, K. (2014, Fall). Stand by or defend? [Editorial]. *Kentucky English Bulletin,64(1)*, 40-41. Retrieved from https://bakeru.idm.oclc.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=100277529&site=ehost-live

- Bullying Statistics. (2016). *Bullying statistics, anti-bullying help, facts, and more*.

 Retrieved from http://www.bullyingstatistics.org/content/bullying-statistics.html.
- Caceres, C. (2014). Suicide prevention and intervention: A collaboration between

 H.O.P.E Crisis Center and local high schools (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved

 from ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis database. (UMI No. 3627461)
- Campbell, M. (2011). School policy responses to the issues of cyber-bullying. *Journal of Catholic School Studies*, 83(2), 62-69. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/title/journal-of-catholic-school-studies/oclc/898487529
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014). A brief quality assessment of the NHIS sexual orientation data. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/qualityso2013508.pdf
- Chatman, S. W. (2015). The effects of bullying on the lives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgendered students who attended high school in Shelby County, Tennessee (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Database. (UMI No. 3735824)
- Chbosky, S. (1999). The perks of being a wallflower. New York, NY: Pocket Books.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cooper, R. M., & Blumenfeld, W. J. (2012). Responses to cyberbullying: A descriptive analysis of the frequency of and impact on LGBT and allied youth. *Journal of LGBT Youth*, 9(2), 153-177. doi:10.1080/19361653.2011.649616
- Darden, E. C. (2014). High school proms are a fertile source of legal action. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 95(8), 70-71. doi:10.1177/003172171409500816

- DeNisco, A. (2015). Report: 30 percent of districts lack anti-bullying policy. *District Adminstration*, 51(9), 20. Retrieved from https://www.districtadministration.com/article/report-30-percent-districts-lack-anti-bullying-policy
- DeVoe, J., & Murphy, C. (2011). Student reports of bullying and cyber-bullying: Results from the 2009 school crime supplement to the national crime victimization survey.

 Retrieved from http://proxyb.kclibrary.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED523061&site=ehost-live
- Diaz, E. M., Kosciw, J. G., & Greytak, E. A. (2010). School connectedness for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth: in-school victimization and institutional supports. *The Prevention Researcher*, *17*(3), 15-17. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&ved=0 ahUKEwjPv6nPqrnSAhUFRSYKHXTyDnoQFgg1MAM&url=https%3A%2F%2 Fusu.instructure.com%2Fcourses%2F400333%2Ffiles%2F59828599%2Fdownlo ad%3Fverifier%3DKv1BrJTvuEhnM8IgkSpPVZtrt8gFOIvu80kkLI42%26wrap%3D1&usg=AFQjCNGUQGQyhfJZpxgMQyyWlIqdg2Qo-Q&bvm=bv.148747831,d.eWE
- Duncan, A. (2011). *Key policy letters from the education secretary and deputy secretary*.

 Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/guid/secletter/110607.html
- Duong, J., & Bradshaw, C. (2014). Associations between bullying and engaging in aggressive and suicidal behaviors among sexual minority youth: The moderating role of connectedness. *Journal of School Health*, 84(10), 636-645. doi:10.1111/josh.12196

- Federal Laws Stop Bullying.gov. (2014). Retrieved from http://www.stopbullying.gov/laws/federal/index.html
- Frankowski, B. L., Kaplan, D. W., Diaz, A., Feinstein, R. A., Fisher, M. M., Klein, J. D.,
 . . . Smith, K. S. (2004). Sexual orientation and adolescents. *Pediatrics*, *113*(6),
 1827-1832. Retrieved from
 https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/113/6#main-content
- Fystrom, A. A. (2011). The developmental readiness of elementary school age children to engage in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender classroom lessons (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Thesis Database. (UMI No. 3481423)
- Galley, M. (1999). New school curriculum seeks to combat anti-gay bias. *Education Week*, 19(10), 6. Retrieved from http://www.edweek.org/ew/index.html
- Gallup. (2016). *How does Gallup daily tracking work*. Retrieved from http://www.gallup.com/174155/gallup-daily-tracking-methodology.aspx.
- Garcia, H. B. (2012). Supporting lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth in high school: A retrospective study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and Thesis database. (UMI No. 1514527)
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network. (2014). *GLSEN releases new national*school climate survey on america's middle and high schools. Retrieved from

 http://proxyb.kclibrary.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dire

 ct=true&db=eric&AN=ED512341&site=ehost-live
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network. (2015). GLSEN Day of Silence, (2015). Retrieved from https://www.glsen.org/day-of-silence

- Goodenow, C., Szalacha, L., & Westheimer, K. (2006). School support groups, other school factors, and the safety of sexual minority adolescents. *Psychology in the Schools*, *43*(5), 573-589. doi:10.1002/pits.20173
- Gould, M. S., Greenberg, T., Velting, D. M., & Shaffer, D. (2003). Youth suicide risk and preventive interventions: A review of the past 10 years. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 42(4), 386-405.
- Greene, D. C., Britton, P. J., & Fitts, B. (2014). Long-term outcomes of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender recalled school victimization. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 92(4), 406-417. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2014.00167.x
- Griezel, L., Finger, L. R., Bodkin-Andrews, G. H., Craven, R. G., & Yeung, A. S. (2012).

 Uncovering the structure of and gender and developmental differences in cyber bullying. *Journal of Educational Research*, 105(6), 442-455.

 doi:10.1080/00220671.2011.629692
- Hall, S. (2010). The American gay rights movement and patriotic protest. *Journal of the History of Sexuality*, 19(3), 536-562. Retrieved from https://utpress.utexas.edu/journals/journal-of-the-history-of-sexuality
- Hanley, R. (2015). Title IX, sexual harassment, and academic freedom: What no one seems to understand. *AAUP Journal of Academic Freedom*, 6, 1-8. Retrieved from https://www.aaup.org/reports-publications/journal-academic-freedom/volume-6
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L. (2011, April 18). The social environment and suicide attempts in lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth. *Pediatrics*, *127*, 896–903. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1542/peds.2010-3020

- Heck, N. C., Flentje, A., & Cochran, B. N. (2011). Offsetting risks: High school gay-straight alliances and lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) youth. School Psychology Quarterly, 26(2), 161-174. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/spq/index.aspx
- Holliday, M. L. (2016). The use of anti-bullying policies to protect LGBT youth: teacher and administrator perspectives on policy implementation (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis database. (UMI No. 10128775)
- Holloway, J. H. (2001). The dilemma of zero tolerance. *Educational Leadership*, 59(4), 84-85. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership.aspx
- Hurley, S. J. (2014). *Public pedagogy and the experience of video creators in the it gets*better project (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and
 Thesis database. (UMI No. 3686729)
- Jones, K. (2013). How federal zero tolerance policies failed to promote educational success, deter juvenile legal consequences, and confront new social media concerns in public schools. *Journal of Law & Education*, 42(4), 739-749.

 Retrieved from http://www.law.sc.edu/jled/
- Kahn, E. (2016). The schools transgender students need. *Educational Leadership*,74(3), 70-73. Retrievied from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/nov16/vol74/num03/The-Schools-Transgender-Students-Need.aspx
- Khayatt, D. (2006). What's to fear: Calling homophobia into question. *McGill Journal of Education*, 41(2), 133-144. Retrieved from http://mje.mcgill.ca/article/viewFile/560/450

- Kansas State Department of Education. (2012). *Kansas safe schools resource center*.

 Retrieved from http://community.ksde.org/Default.aspx?tabid=3878
- Kansas State Department of Education. (2015). Welcome to the Kansas Building Report

 Card. Retrieved from

 http://ksreportcard.ksde.org/home.aspx?org_no=State&rptType=3
- Kearns, L., Mitton-Kukner, J., & Tompkins, J. (2014). LGBTQ awareness and allies:

 Building capacity in a bachelor of education Program. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *37*(4). Retrieved from http://www.cje-rce.ca/index.php/cje-rce/article/view/1628
- Kitts, R. L. (2005). Gay adolescents and suicide: Understanding the association.

 Adolescence, 40(159), 621-628. Retrieved from http://img2.timg.co.il/forums/1_94285042.pdf
- Kuhlmann, K. L. (2014). Research, development, and validation of a school leader's resource guide for positive supports for lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, transgender (LGBT) students in schools (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3627745)
- Lassiter, P. S., & Sifford, A. M. (2015). Perceptions of a gay-straight alliance club ban: School counselors and advocacy for LGBTQ students. *Journal of School Counseling*, *13*(10), 1-41. Retrieved from http://jsc.montana.edu/
- Lester, L., Cross, D., & Shaw, T. (2012). Problem behaviours, traditional bullying and cyberbullying among adolescents: Longitudinal analyses. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 17(3-4), 435-447. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/action/pricing?journalCode=rebd

- Levine, E., & Tamburrino, M. (2014). Bullying among young children: Strategies for prevention. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 42(4), 271-278. doi:10.1007/s10643-013-0600-y
- Lindquist, L. M. (2016). School supports for LGBTQ students: Counteracting the dangers of the closet (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10128781)
- Lunenburg, F. C., & Irby, B. J. (2008). Writing a successful thesis or dissertation: Tips and strategies for students in the social and behavioral sciences. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Marshall, A., Yarber, W. L., Sherwood-Laughlin, C. M., Gray, M. L., & Estell, D. B. (2015). Coping and survival skills: The role school personnel play regarding support for bullied sexual minority-oriented youth. *Journal of School Health*, 85(5), 334-340. doi:10.1111/josh.12254
- McFall, J. (2015). Being a lesbian in a high school classroom: An exploration of the experience (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3738457)
- Michigan, U. O. (2016). *International Spectrum*. LGBT Terms and Definitions. Retrieved from https://internationalspectrum.umich.edu/life/definitions
- Murphy, H. E. (2012). Improving the lives of students, gay and straight alike: Gay-straight alliances and the role of school psychologists. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(9), 883-891. doi:10.1002/pits.21643

- Nagoshi, J. L., Adams, K. A., Terrell, H. K., Hill, E. D., Brzuzy, S., & Nagoshi, C. T. (2008). Gender differences in correlates of homophobia and transphobia. *Sex Roles*, 59(7/8), 521-531. doi:10.1007/s11199-008-9458-7
- National School Boards Association. (2016). Transgender students in schools:

 Frequently asked questions and answers for public school boards and staff.

 Retrieved from https://cdn-files.nsba.org/s3fs-public/reports/

 2016_Transgender_Guide.pdf?fR8tsknQRT6y2_Cy.WC6K2y2KEH.ewZg
- Newport, F. (2015). Americans greatly overestimate percent gay, lesbian in U.S.

 Retrieved from http://www.gallup.com/poll/183383/americans-greatlyoverestimate-percent-gay-lesbian.aspx
- Obermann, M. L. (2011). Moral disengagement among bystanders to school bullying. *Journal of School Violence*, 10(3), 239-257. doi:10.1080/15388220.2011.578276
- Ocamb, K. (2000). Trevor project fundraiser brings out the stars. *Lesbian News*, 25(6), 19. Retrieved from http://www.lesbiannews.com
- Olive, J. L. (2015). The impact of friendship on the leadership identity development of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and queer students *Journal of Leadership Education*, *14*(1), 142-159. Retrieved from http://journalofleadershiped.org/
- Payne, E., & Newsome, J. (2015). *U.S. Illinois transgender student must get full locker room access*. Retrieved from http://www.cnn.com/2015/11/03/us/illinois-school-district-transgender-ruling/
- Perez, E. R., Schanding, G. T., & Dao, T. K. (2013). Educators' perceptions in addressing bullying of LGBTQ/gender nonconforming youth. *Journal of School Violence*, *12*(1), 64-79. doi:10.1080/15388220.2012.731663

- Rahimi, R., & Liston, D. (2011). Race, class, and emerging sexuality: teacher perceptions and sexual harassment in schools. *Gender & Education*, 23(7), 799-810. doi:10.1080/09540253.2010.536143
- Roberge, G. D. (2012). From zero tolerance to early intervention: The evolution of school anti-bullying policy. *JEP: eJournal of Education Policy*, *Fall 2012*. Retrieved from https://nau.edu/coe/ejournal/
- Robertson, S. (2014). *Informing educator professional development based on the school*experiences of LGBTQ students (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest

 Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3691366)
- Ross, M. S. (2015). Building peaceful secondary school climates: A comparison of antiviolence, equity, engagement and community-building practices (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3720161)
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I.S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data*.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Salinger, J. D., Mitchell, E. M., & Jacobi, L. (1951). *The catcher in the rye*. New York, NY: Little, Brown and Company.
- Savage, D., & Miller, T. (2011). It gets better: Coming out, overcoming bullying, and creating a life worth living. New York, NY: Dutton.
- Shah, N. (2011, June 14). Duncan warns schools on banning gay-straight clubs.

 *Education Week, 36(30), Retrieved from http://www.edweek.org/

 ew/articles/2011/06/14/36gaystraight.h30.html

- Shah, N. (2012). Minn. district settles lawsuit with students who were bullied. *Education Week*, 31(24). Retrieved from http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2012/03/14/24bully.h31.html?qs=lawsuit+with+students+who+were+bullied
- Shallat, L. (2015). A San Francisco high school's LGBTQ studies class makes history.

 Retrieved from http://kalw.org/post/san-francisco-high-school-s-lgbtq-studies-class-makes-history stream/0
- Sieben, N. (2010). LGBT literature in the Social Studies classroom. *Social Science Docket*, 10(2), 48-49. Retrieved from http://studylib.net/doc/14227022/social-science-docket
- Skiba, R. J., & Peterson, R. L. (2000). School discipline at a crossroads: From zero tolerance to early response. *Exceptional Children*, 66(3), 335-346. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/home/ecx
- Spencer, S. (2016). The relationship between school type and mental health of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning young adults (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10131697)
- Street, S. W. (2016). School community members' perceptions regarding LGBT-based bullying, harassment, and violence (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10164240)
- Swearer, S. M., Turner, R. K., Givens, J. E., & Pollack, W. S. (2008). "You're so gay!":

 Do different forms of bullying matter for adolescent males? *School Psychology**Review, 37(2), 160-173. Retrieved from

 http://naspjournals.org/loi/spsr?code=naps-site

- Toleson, C. (2014). Beyond resilience: A retrospective study of the personal strengths and school-based protective factors that promote positive outcomes for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning/queer youth (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3635225)
- Toporek, B. (2015). *Nebraska school activities association unveils draft transgender-student policy*. Retrieved from http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/schooled_in_sports/2015/12/nebraska_school_activities_association_unveils_draft_transgender-student_policy.html?_ga=1.119212298.222153424.1452373657
- U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights. (April, 2015). *Title IX resource* guide. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/dcl-title-ix-coordinators-guide-201504.pdf
- Varjas, K., Dew, B., Marshall, M., Graybill, E., Singh, A., Meyers, J., & Birckbichler, L. (2008). Bullying in schools towards sexual minority youth. *Journal of School Violence*, 7(2), 59-86. doi:10.1300/J202vO7n02_05
- Vega, S. S., Crawford, H. G., & Van Pelt, J. L. (2012). Safe schools for LGBTQI students: How do teachers view their role in promoting safe schools? *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 45(2), 250-260. doi:10.1080/10665684.2012.671095
- Waidzunas, T. (2012). Young, gay, and suicidal: dynamic nominalism and the process of defining a social problem with statistics. *Science, Technology & Human Values*, 37(2), 199-225. doi:10.1177/0162243911402363
- Walker, A. (1992). *The color purple*. London, England: Women's Press.

- Walsh, M. (2016). Restroom guidance: a thorny case study in regulatory law. *Education Week*, 35(34), 1-23. Retrieved from http://web.a.ebscohost.com.bakeru.idm.oclc.org/ehost/detail/detail?sid=51f13ce0-e8f8-4d33-bd28-df45fbaaee74%40sessionmgr4010&vid=0&hid=4214&bdata =JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZQ%3d%3d#AN=116076630&db=eue
- Whitson, S. (2015). Bringing an end to bullying. *Reclaiming Children & Youth*, 24(1), 50-54. Retrieved from http://reclaimingjournal.com
- Wimberly, G. L. (2015). *LGBTQ issues in education: Advancing a research agenda*.

 Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association.

Appendices

Appendix A: Handout

- 1. Are you a member of the LGBTQ community?
- 2. Are you from NE Kansas?
- 3. Are you between the ages of 18 and 25?
- 4. Did you graduate from a non-virtual high school in one of these northeast Kansas counties: Marshall, Nemaha, Brown, Doniphan, Pottawatomie, Jackson, Atchison, Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Jefferson, Wabaunsee, Shawnee, Douglas, Johnson, and Osage?

If you answered yes to all of the above four questions...

... and you are willing to be interviewed for my research project for my doctoral dissertation at Baker University, please respond to me, David Fernkopf, at this email address dfernkopf@gmail.com.

You will remain anonymous and all of your personal information will be kept confidential when I report the interview data.

Appendix B: IRB



Date: 11/28/16

SCHOOL OF EDUCATION

GRADUATE DEPARTMENT

(IRB USE ONLY)

IRB REQUEST Proposal for Research Submitted to the Baker University Institutional Review Board

I. Research Investigator(s) (Students must list faculty sponsor first)

Department(s) <u>School of Education Graduate Department</u>								
	Name	Signature						
1.	Susan Rogers	Susan Klogeo Magarat Waters		Major A	dvisor			
2.	Margaret Waterman	Mugaetilden	N. Phone	Research	h Analyst			
3.	Harold Frye			Universi	ity Committee Member			
4.	Steve Pegram			External	l Committee Member			
Pho En	ncipal Investigator: one: nail: niling address:	785. fem 531:	id C. Ferr 608-5400 kopf@yal) NE Burc eka, KS 6) hoo.com chwood D	David C. Fernleys Dr	1		
	ulty sponsor:		Susan R	_	arr.			
Phone:				4-1226 o: 0-2801 ce				
Ema	ail:				bakeru.edu			
Expected Category of Review:ExemptX_ ExpeditedFull								
II: Protocol: (Type the title of your study)								
Former Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Questioning High School Students Perceptions of Bullying								

Summary

In a sentence or two, please describe the background and purpose of the research.

The purpose of this study is to determine former LGBTQ high school students' perceptions related to their experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. Specifically, the purpose of this study is to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of and experiences with being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the curriculum and how it was inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and the experiences of LGBTQ students with negative consequences to the bullying.

Briefly describe each condition or manipulation to be included within the study. There are no conditions or manipulations included within this study.

What measures or observations will be taken in the study? If any questionnaire or other instruments are used, provide a brief description and attach a copy.

Face-to-face interviews will be conducted with each participant. A set of interview questions developed by the researcher and reviewed by an expert panel will be asked of each participant. See attached interview questions.

Will the subjects encounter the risk of psychological, social, physical, or legal risk? If so, please describe the nature of the risk and any measures designed to mitigate that risk. The only risk the participant may encounter is bringing up possible bad memories from when they were in school. Assurance of anonymity will, hopefully, lessen any concerns interviewees may have. The participant will know that they can to discontinue the interview at any time.

Will any stress to subjects be involved? If so, please describe.

Subjects may experience some stress by talking about any unpleasant experiences they might have had in high school. If the situation becomes too stressful, the participant know that they can discontinue the interview.

Will the subjects be deceived or misled in any way? If so, include an outline or script of the debriefing.

No deceptions or misleading information, interview questions, or follow-up will be used in any way.

Will there be a request for information which subjects might consider to be personal or sensitive? If so, please include a description.

Yes. Subjects may be hesitant to share about their experiences with bullies in school. All interviewees will be fully informed prior to the beginning of interviews and will be advised that they may choose to not respond partially or fully to any question and they can terminate the interview at any time.

Will the subjects be presented with materials, which might be considered to be offensive, threatening, or degrading? If so, please describe.

No offensive, threatening, or degrading materials will be used in the interview process.

Approximately how much time will be demanded of each subject?

Individual interviews are expected to be conducted in 45 to 60 minutes.

Who will be the subjects in this study? How will they be solicited or contacted? Provide an outline or script of the information which will be provided to subjects prior to their volunteering to participate. Include a copy of any written solicitation as well as an outline of any oral solicitation.

To find former students who are members of the LGBTQ community, local Parents, Families and Friends of Lesbians and Gays (PFLAG) groups and Gay Straight Alliances (GSA) groups will be contacted to find volunteers who would fit the criteria for the study (see attached recruitment flyer).

The participants will be selected based on their belonging to the LGBTQ community, their attendance at a non virtural high school in one theses northeast Kansas counties: Marshall, Nemaha, Brown, Doniphan, Pottawatomie, Jackson, Atchison, Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Jefferson, Wabaunsee, Shawnee, Douglas, Johnson, and Osage, and their graduation from high school between 2011 and 2016. Potential participants will be invited by email, by word of mouth, and by handouts that were distributed at LGBTQ functions in the area. While locating participants, the researcher will attempt to find members of each part of the LGBTQ community who are willing to participate. Participants will be randomly selected from each LGBTQ group until 15 participants are selected. The 15 participants will be interviewed. Pseudonyms will be used to protect the identities of the participants.

What steps will be taken to insure that each subject's participation is voluntary? The participants will sign the informed consent form (see attached). The names of all participants and their answers will be kept confidential.

What if any inducements will be offered to the subjects for their participation? No inducements will be offered at any time.

How will you insure that the subjects give their consent prior to participating? Will a written consent form be used? If so, include the form. If not, explain why not. No interviews will be conducted until after the signed consent form is received by the researcher. The participants have the right to not answer any questions that make them feel uncomfortable and can stop the interview at any time.

Will any aspect of the data be made a part of any permanent record that can be identified with the subject? If so, please explain the necessity.

No aspect of the interview will be made part of any permanent record that can be identified with the subject. Pseudonyms will be used to protect the identities of the participants.

Will the fact that a subject did or did not participate in a specific experiment or study be made part of any permanent record available to a supervisor, teacher or employer? If so, explain.

The fact the subject did or did not participate in the study will not be made part of any permanent record available to anyone. No permanent record will be made of participation.

What steps will be taken to insure the confidentiality of the data? Where will it be stored? How long will it be stored? What will be done with it after the study is completed?

The recording and notes made during the interview will be saved with the pseudonyms and not with participates actual name. Data with the pseudonyms of participants will be stored on the investigator's personal computer and will not leave the investigator's possession at any time. All data and records will be deleted upon completion of the study.

If there are any risks involved in the study, are there any offsetting benefits that might accrue to either the subjects or society?

There are no risks involved in the study.

Will any data from files or archival data be used? If so, please describe. No data from files or archival data will be used.

Interview Questions

- 1. Tell me about yourself and your high school experiences.
- 2. What experiences have you had or observed of LGBTQ students being bullied in high school?
- 3. What experiences have you had or observed with teacher and staff responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students?
- 4. If you as a LGBTQ person or someone you observed that was LGBTQ person was bullied, what was your response?
- 5. What were LGBTQ students' responses when they were bullied?
- a. Did you have any experiences while in high school of LGBTQ students threatening or committing harm to themselves?
- 6. What school policies were in place to protect LGBTQ students from bullying?
- 7. How did the policies protect the students at the high school you attend?
- a. How effective were school policies at protecting LGBTQ students?
- 8. What did you learn in classes about the LGBTQ community and history in high school?

Appendix C: IRB Approval Letter



Baker University Institutional Review Board

December 5, 2016

Dear David Fernkopf and Dr. Rogers:

The Baker University IRB has reviewed your research project application and approved this project under Expedited Status Review. As described, the project complies with all the requirements and policies established by the University for protection of human subjects in research. Unless renewed, approval lapses one year after approval date.

Please be aware of the following:

- 1. Any significant change in the research protocol as described should be reviewed by this Committee prior to altering the project.
- 2. Notify the IRB about any new investigators not named in original application.
- 3. When signed consent documents are required, the primary investigator must retain the signed consent documents of the research activity.
- 4. If this is a funded project, keep a copy of this approval letter with your proposal/grant file
- 5. If the results of the research are used to prepare papers for publication or oral presentation at professional conferences, manuscripts or abstracts are requested for IRB as part of the project record.

Please inform this Committee or myself when this project is terminated or completed. As noted above, you must also provide IRB with an annual status report and receive approval for maintaining your status. If you have any questions, please contact me at <u>EMorris@BakerU.edu</u> or 785.594.7881.

Sincerely,

Erin Morris PhD

Chair, Baker University IRB

Grin R. Mour

Baker University IRB Committee
Joe Watson PhD
Nate Poell MA
Susan Rogers PhD
Scott Crenshaw

Appendix D: Participant Consent Form

You are invited to participate in research conducted by David Fernkopf related to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Questioning (LGBTQ) and experience while attending high school in northeast Kansas. Your participation will take approximately 60 minutes.

The purpose of this study is to understand LGBTQ former high school students' perceptions of and experiences with being bullied in high school, district staff's responses to the bullying of LGBTQ students, district policies related to bullying of LGBTQ students, the extent that the policies protected the students, the curriculum and how curriculum is or is not inclusive of the LGBTQ community, and LGBTQ students threatening or committing suicide.

I am asking your permission to conduct and record an interview with you as part of the research. The recording will be used to assist in writing field notes. The recording will include only how you identify, not your actual name. The recordings will be stored on a secure digital file and will be destroyed after the dissertation has been defended. I will not use the recording for any other purpose than those stated in the consent form.

Your signature on this form grants me, as the investigator, permission to record you as described above during participation in the above-referenced research.

If you have read this form and have decided to participate in this project, please understand your participation is voluntary and you have the right to withdraw your consent at any time without penalty. You have the right to refuse to answer particular questions. Your individual privacy will be maintained in all published and written data resulting from this study.

If you agree to participate in this research, please sign your name on the line below along with filling out the other information below.

Sign your na	me			Date	
Print your na	me				
Email Addre	SS				
Phone Numb	er				
Please circle	how do	you identify:			
Lesbian	Gay	Bisexual	Transgender	Questioning	